Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2008

Controlled Synthesis and Characterization of Metal Oxide Nanowires by Chemical Vapor Deposition on Silicon and Carbon Substrates

Mohammad Norouzi Banis Western University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Norouzi Banis, Mohammad, "Controlled Synthesis and Characterization of Metal Oxide Nanowires by Chemical Vapor Deposition on Silicon and Carbon Substrates" (2008). *Digitized Theses*. 4142. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/4142

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Controlled Synthesis and Characterization of Metal Oxide Nanowires by Chemical Vapor Deposition on Silicon and Carbon Substrates

(Spine title: Synthesis & Characterization of Metal Oxide Nanowires)

(Thesis format: Integrated Article)

by

Mohammad Norouzi Banis

Graduate Program in Engineering Science Department of Mechanical and Materials Engineering

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Engineering Sciences

School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario August, 2008

© Mohammad Norouzi Banis 2008

Abstract

Nanotechnology and nanomaterials have attracted considerable interest and are predicted to revolutionize many materials and technologies that we use in everyday life. In the past few years, significant research has focused on one dimensional metal oxide nanostructures due to their unique properties and potential applications in various fields from nanoelectronics to energy. However, controlled synthesis of these nanostructures is still a challenge.

The objective of this thesis is to synthesize metal oxide nanowires by chemical vapour deposition directly on various substrates. The nanostructures include (i) silicon oxide nanostructures on silicon substrate, (ii) manganese oxide nanostructures on silicon substrate, and (iii) manganese oxide nanostructures on carbon paper substrate.

Firstly, silicon oxide nanowires were synthesized on silicon substrate by a VO_2 assisted chemical vapor deposition. Networked features of silicon oxide nanowires were found. Systematic study on the nanowire growth has indicated that morphology and composition of the final products are considerably sensitive to the catalyst components, reaction atmosphere and temperature. These results will help in better understanding the growth process of silicon oxide nanowires.

Secondly, manganese oxide nanostructures were synthesized on silicon substrate by chemical vapor deposition method. It was found that MnO nanowires are high density and single crystalline with average diameter of 150 nm. These nanowires were characterized using FESEM, EDX, TEM and XRD. The synthesis process and effects of growth parameters such as temperature, heating rate and source/substrate distance on the morphology, composition and structure of the products were systematically studied.

Finally, manganese oxide nanostructures were synthesized on carbon paper substrate by chemical vapor deposition method. It was revealed that manganese oxide nanowires and nanobelts can be selectively grown on carbon paper substrate by using a catalyst (gold) assisted or catalyst free thermal evaporation of manganese powder under an argon gas atmosphere. Various effects of growth parameters such as temperature, catalyst and buffered substrate on the growth product were also systematically investigated by using SEM, TEM and XPS.

Keywords: Silicon oxide, manganese monoxide, nanowire, nanobelt, chemical vapor deposition, growth mechanism

iii

Table of Contents

Certificate of Examination		
Abstract	iii	
Co-Authorship	iv	
Dedication	v	
Acknowledgments		
Table of Contents	vii	
List of Tables	X	
List of Figures	xi	
List of Abbreviations	xiv	
Chapter One: General Introduction	1	
1.1. Nanotechnology	1	
1.1.1. Introduction	1	
1.1.2. Challenges in Nanotechnology	5	
1.2. Nanomaterials	7	
1.2.1. Zero Dimensional Nanomaterials	9	
1.2.2. Two Dimensional Nanomaterials	11	
1.2.3. One Dimensional Nanomaterial	12	
1.2.3.1. Nanotubes	12	
1.2.3.2. Nanowires	13	
1.3. Growth Mechanisms of Nanowires	14	
1.3.1. Solution based Approaches to Nanowires	16	
1.3.1.1. Non-Template Methods	16	
1.3.1.2. Template Methods	17	
1.3.1.3. Solution-Liquid-Solution Process	19	
1.3.2. Vapor Phase Growth of Nanowires	20	
1.3.2.1. Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth	20	
1.3.2.2. Vapor-Solid Growth	22	
1.3.2.3. Oxide Assisted Growth	24	
1.3.2.4. Solid-Liquid-Solid Growth	24	

1.4. Synthesis Methods	26	
1.4.1. Physical Vapor Deposition	26	
1.4.2. Chemical Vapor Deposition	27	
1.5. Thesis Outline and Research Goals		
References	32	
Chapter Two: Experimental Procedures		
2.1. Silicon Oxide Nanostructures	39	
2.1.1. Synthesis	39	
2.1.2. Characterization	41	
2.2. Manganese Monoxide Nanostructures	42	
2.2.1. Synthesis	42	
2.2.2. Characterization	46	
Chapter Three: Vanadium Oxide Assisted Synthesis of Networked Silicon	n	
Oxide Nanowires and Their Growth Dependence	47	
3.1. Introduction	47	
3.2. Results and Discussion	49	
3.2.1. Effect of Catalyst	49	
3.2.2. Effect of Hydrogen	53	
3.2.3. Effect of Temperature	55	
3.2.4. Growth Mechanism	56	
3.3. Conclusion	57	
Acknowledgments	60	
References	61	
Chapter Four: Synthesis and Characterization of Single Crystalline		
MnO Nanowires by Vapor Deposition Method	63	
4.1. Introduction	63	
4.2. Result and Discussion	65	
4.2.1. Effect of Temperature	67	
4.2.2. Effect of Source/Substrate Distance	68	
4.2.3. Effect of Heating Rate	70	
4.2.4. Growth Mechanism	71	

.

4.3. Conclusions	73
Acknowledgments	74
References	75
Chapter Five: Synthesis and Characterization of One Dimensional	
Manganese Oxide nanostructures on Carbon paper	78
5.1. Introduction	78
5.2. Results & Discussion	80
5.3. Conclusions	88
Acknowledgments	88
References	89
Chapter Six: Conclusion and Future Work	93
6.1. Conclusions	93
6.2. Future Work	95
6.2.1. Silicon Oxide Nanowires on Silicon	95
6.2.2. MnO Nanostructures on Silicon and Carbon Paper Substrates	95
VITAE	97

List of Tables

Chapter one:

 Table1. Typical dimensions of nanomaterials along with examples of material used in these types of groups for various applications

9

Chapter two:

Table1.	. Summary of experimental conditions studied for the synthesis of silicon oxide	
	nanostructures	39
Table2. Summary of experimental conditions applied to study the effect various grow		
	parameters on the morphology of structures deposited on the silicon	
	Substrate	45

Chapter Three:

Table1. Effect of different parameters on the synthesis of SiO2 nanostructures56

List of Figures

Chapter one:

Figure1. "Moore's law" plot of transistor size versus year. The trend line illustrate	es that
the transistor size has decreased by a factor of 2 every 18 months.	
1	
Figure2. Ge-Au Binary phase diagram.	21
Figure3. Schematic diagram of Ge nanowire grown using VLS mechanism.	22
Figure 4. Schematic diagram of Si nanowire synthesized using Ni catalyst via SLS	growth
mechanism.	25
Figure 5. Schematic diagram of nanowires synthesized using a chemical vapor dep	osition
method.	27
Chapter two:	
Figure 1. Schematic diagram of CVD method used for the synthesis of silicon oxid	le
nanostructures.	40
Figure 2. Schematic diagram of CVD method used for the synthesis of manganese	oxide
nanostructures using manganese powder.	42
Figure3. Simplified binary phase diagram of Au-Mn, showing eutectic point	
around 960°C.	43
Figure 4. Schematic diagram showing substrate-source setup in the quartz tube of	CVD
process for the synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures on silicon	
substrate.	44

Chapter three:

Figure 1. Typical SEM images of silicon oxide nanostructures synthesized using various catalysts by simple thermal annealing of silicon substrate. a) Low magnification of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using the co-catalyst of VO₂ and Au. b)
Increased magnification of silicon oxide network of nanowires synthesized using the co-catalysts. c) Low magnification of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using the co-catalysts. c) Low magnification of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using gold catalyst d) Increased magnification image of gold assisted grown silicon oxide nanowires with uniform diameter of these

xi

nanowires along their length with a with bundles of nanowires on the background. e) Low magnification image of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using VO₂ as a catalyst. f) Increased magnification image of silicon oxide network of nanowires using VO₂ as catalyst. **51**

- Figure 2. a) TEM image of silicon oxide nanowires showing smooth morphology and a diameter of 50-70 nm. The SAED pattern shown in the inset reveals a characteristic diffusive ring pattern indicating that silicon oxide nanowires are completely amorphous. b) XPS spectrum of silicon oxide nanowires with silicon to oxygen peak ratio of approximately 0.5, there were no peaks for VO₂, suggesting that the nanowires are pure silicon oxide nanowires. 53
- Figure3. SEM images showing the effect of hydrogen in the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires. a) SEM image of vanadium oxide structures synthesized on silicon substrate by thermal annealing of silicon substrates in vicinity of VO₂ powder without the presence of H₂ in atmosphere. b) SEM image of low density of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate coated with gold without the use of H₂ gas.

54

Chapter four:

- Figure 1. a) SEM images of manganese oxide nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate with 3-4nm, showing uniform coverage of silicon substrate. b) EDX spectrum of manganese oxide nanowires on silicon substrate with 3-4nm gold.
- Figure 2. a) TEM image of a MnO nanowire with a diameter of about 150 nm. b) SAED pattern of the nanowires which corresponds to fcc-MnO phase. c) HRTEM image of manganese oxide nanowires.
- Figure3. SEM images showing the effects of synthesis temperature on the nanostructures
 a) Particles deposited on the substrate in temperatures at 900°C. b) Nanowires
 synthesized in 930°C. c) Nano & micro-wires synthesized in temperatures
 960°C.
- Figure4. SEM images of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized by increasing the distance between manganese powder and silicon substrate to more than 5mm. a) SEM

xii

image of silicon oxide nanowires shows that these nanowires have uniform diameters below 100 nm and cover the substrate uniformly. b) XPS results from these nanowires shows that the Si:O ratio is around 1:2 which indicates that these nanowires are mainly SiO₂ nanowires. c) TEM image of silicon oxide nanowires showing smooth surface with narrow diameter range of 70nm. The inset is the SAED pattern of these nanowires taken under TEM reveals that these nanowires have amorphous structure. **69**

Figure5. SEM images of structures synthesized by increasing the heating rate of the experiment to 50°C/min while keeping other parameters at unchanged. a) low magnification SEM image shows that these structures cover the silicon substrate relatively uniformly. b) Higher magnification SEM images shows that these structures are comprised of micro-wires in their core with sheet like structures covering these wires. Initial characterizations via EDX show that the core wire is mainly composed of manganese and oxygen and the sheet covering the wire are mostly silicon oxide as seen in the EDX taken from these structures. **70**

Chapter five:

Figure 1. XRD pattern from MnO nanowires synthesized on carbon paper with a 15 nm thick gold layer. 81

Figure 2. SEM images of MnO nanowires synthesized on carbon paper with a thin gold layer of a,b) 5nm, c, d) 10nm and e,f) 15nm showing the change in the morphology of nanowires deposited with the thickness of the catalyst layer.
83

Figure3. SEM images of MnO nanostructures synthesized on a,b) carbon paper, c,d) tungsten sputtered carbon paper, and e,f) titanium sputtered carbon paper in a catalyst free condition, revealing the dependence of the morphology of manganese oxide nanostructures on structure and composition of the substrate.

85

Abbreviations

CVD – Chemical vapor deposition

SEM - Scanning electron microscope

TEM – Transmission electron microscope

HRTEM - High-resolution transmission electron microscope

XRD – X-ray diffraction

SLS – Solid liquid solid

VLS - Vapor liquid solid

VS - Vapor solid

Chapter One: Introduction to One-Dimensional Nanomaterials

1. Nanotechnology

1.1. Introduction

In 1965, Intel co-founder Gordon E. Moore stated that

"The complexity for minimum component cost has increased at a rate of roughly a factor of two per year ... Over longer term, the rate of increase is a bit more uncertain although there is no reason to believe that will not remain nearly constant for at least 10 years"[1]

Later he altered his projection to a doubling every two years, and this statement has been empirically proven since 1970s as shown in figure 1. This means that every 24 months the density of transistors on integrated circuits doubles.



Figure 1. "Moore's law" plot of transistor size versus year. The trend line illustrates that the transistor size has decreased by a factor of 2 every 18 months (diagram copied from Intel website)

It is obvious that using conventional microchip technologies, electronic industry would reach its limit of transistor density on a single wafer. In order to be able to follow Moore's prediction, new technologies such as nanotechnology are needed to develop to give electronic industries access to move from micrometer scale to smaller scales such as nanoscale.

Nanotechnology, a term coined in the 1970s refers to the development of and use of techniques to study physical phenomena and construct structures as well as incorporation of these structures into applications. This technology deals with small sized materials. The typical dimension spans from subnanometer to several hundred nanometers [2]. Although size is a convenient way of defining the area, it alone is not enough to distinguish the nanoscale material from microscopic material. For example there is no line of demarcation that separates structures at 120 nm from that of 100 nm. In practice nanotechnology has more to do with the investigation of novel properties that manifest themselves at that size scale, and of the ability to manipulate and artificially construct structures at that scale [3].

Nanotechnology might be new, but the use of nanosized material and research on nanometer scale is not new at all. It is known that in the fourth century A.D. Roman glass makers were fabricating glasses containing nanosized metals. The great varieties of beautiful colors of the windows of medieval cathedrals are due to the presence of metal nanoparticles in the glass. Photography is an advanced and mature technology, developed in eighteen and nineteenth centuries which depend on the production of silver nanoparticles [4]. In addition the study of biological systems and engineering of many materials such as colloidal dispersion and catalysts have been in the nanometers regimes for centuries. Use of colloidal gold has a long history, though a comprehensive study on the preparation and properties of colloidal gold was first published in the middle of 19th century. Colloidal gold was and is still used for treatment of arthritis. A number of diseases were diagnosed by the interaction of colloidal gold with spinal fluids obtained from the patient [4].

What is really new about nanotechnology is the combination of the ability to see and manipulate matter on the nanoscale and understanding of atomic scale interactions in recent decades.

Predication about the promise of nanotechnology can be traced back to Feynman's classic 1959 talk where he stated: "the principles of physics, as far as I can see, do not speak against the possibility of maneuvering thins atom by atom."[5]. Feynman proceeded to describe building with atomic precision and outlined a pathway involving a series of increasingly smaller machines and in recent decades due to intensive research on this technology such predications are coming to reality. Nanotechnology enables industries to manufacture smaller, lighter, stronger and cleaner products which lead to huge commercial applications in various fields such as semiconductors, electronics, medical, automotive and energy. For example in electronics, in long term, huge amount of work is being done to commercialize semiconducting nanotubes for electronics. Similarly, work is being carried out to scale up spintornic molecules containing two atoms in an organic system such that spin can be transferred from one to the other and sensed. For mid-term opportunities nanostructured material using atomic cluster deposition show promise of for interconnects and sensors whose small size and ability to integrate onto silicon logic circuits using lithography or other imaging techniques coupled with low temperature assembly promise rapid response and low cost. But from immediate opportunities of nanotechnology in electronic industry, enhanced shielding materials,

solders, conductive adhesives, are now possible as nanosized material become available and economic[6]. Other opportunities exist in composite conductors. Recently a group reported the synthesis of the fabrication of conductive polymer composite (density of 0.05gcm⁻³) using nanostructured material. These polymers find wide applications in electromagnetic interference shielding, electrostatic discharge protection and actuators [7].

Nanomaterials and nanostructures also increase the efficiency of many types of energy conversion devices (photovoltaic, thermoelectric, battery and fuel cell). This area will get increased attention as the energy supply and demand equation becomes more complex. Fuel cells, specially proton exchange fuel cells (PEMFCs) are now attracting enormous interest for various applications such as low/zero emission vehicles, power source for small portable electronics [8,9,10]. There are several challenges in the commercialization of PEMFCs [10,11]. One of these challenges are the high cost of noble metals used as catalysts such as Pt. Currently, in commercially offered prototype fuel cells, very small portion (20-30%) of Pt is used efficiently. In order to obtain higher utilization of Pt, numerous studies have been carried out. Recently it has been reported that nanomaterials such as nanotubes [12] and nanowires [13] are suitable material for Pt support in PEMFC and enhance the performance of fuel cells due to their various advantages such as huge surface area. This will improve the Pt utilization by securing the electronic route from Pt to supporting electron in PEMFCs.

These examples indicate that nanotechnology is a multidisciplinary field requiring knowledge of chemistry, physics, material science, engineering and most often biology to fully exploit its advantages. Also, there are many challenges to be addressed before nanotechnology can be effectively used in different fields.

1.2. Challenges in Nanotechnology

Although many of the fundamentals have long been established in different fields such as in physics, chemistry, material science, researchers in the field of nanotechnology face many new challenges that are unique to nanostructures and the applications of these materials.

One of the challenges in nanotechnology is integration of nanostructures into or with macroscopic systems. Some observers suggest that a future tagline for nanotechnology might be "Nano Inside" since the value of nanotechnology will be realized by its successful integration into more complex structures and devices that span length scales from nano all the way to macroscopic world of humankind. This reflects the fact that many of the first uses of nanotechnology will be for microtechnology both in terms of fabricating devices and in understanding their behavior.

Integrating the unique and valuable functional properties of nanotechnology with complex and multi length scale structures poses significant scientific and manufacturing challenges. Understanding and predicting fundamental behavior of systems that span many length scales requires new knowledge concerning [14]:

- 1) the control of optical and electronic energy transfer coupled across multiple length scales
- the coupling of mechanical forces across nano, micro and larger scales, including the control of fluidic transport
- the integration of biological and synthetic materials and control of the interface between the different components

Another challenge is building and demonstration of novel tools to study at nanometer level what is being manifested at macro level. Although material properties such as electrical conductivity and dielectric constant tensile strength are independent of dimensions and weight of the material but in practice, system properties are measured experimentally. The small size and complexity of nanoscale structures make the development of new measurement technologies more challenging than ever. Measurements of physical properties of nanomaterials require extremely sensitive instrumentation while the noise level must be kept very low.

There are other challenges that arise only in the nanometers scale and are not found in the macro level. For example, doping in semiconductors has been very well established process. However, random doping fluctuations become extremely important at nanometer scale, since these fluctuations would be no longer tolerable in the nanometer scale. Making the situation further complicated is the location of the dopant atoms. Surface atom would certainly behave differently from the centered atom. The challenge will be not only to achieve reproducible and uniform distribution of dopant atoms in nanometer scale, but also to precisely control the location of dopant atoms. To meet such a challenge the ability to monitor and manipulate the material processing in the atomic level is crucial.

In addition to the above challenges, successful nanoscale manufacturing is also one of the key issues of development of nanotechnology. This requires the ability to control materials synthesis at nanometer scale with sufficiently high reliability and yield to be cost effective. Various processes have been developed for the synthesis of different nanostructures. For example most experts would agree that self assembly promises to be an important tool for nanoscale manufacturing; however it still is in an early stage of development [14].

For fabrication and processing of nanomaterials and nanostructures, the following challenges must be addressed [2]:

- Overcome the huge surface energy, a result of enormous surface area or large surface to volume ratio.
- Ensure all nanomaterials with desired size, uniform distribution, morphology, crystallinity, chemical composition and microstructure that altogether result in desired physical properties.
- Prevent nanomaterials from coarsening through either Ostwald ripening or agglomeration as time evolutes.

These fabrication challenges are generalized for all the type of nanomaterial. But nanomaterials based on different fields of study have been categorized into several types. Each type of nanostructures has its unique difficulties in the fabrication process. This has attracted many researchers to develop various methods to synthesize different nanostructures.

2. Nanomaterials

Nanomaterials are one of the building blocks of nanotechnology. Depending on the application and purpose of nanomaterials, they have found various definitions. But they can be generally defined as materials with physical structures which at least one their dimension is between 1-100nm [4]. Nanomaterials due to their application are the fastest

growing area in material science and engineering [15]. These materials have distinctly different physical and chemical properties from those of a single atom (molecule) and bulk matter with the same chemical composition. This is because many properties of solids depend on the size range over which they are measured. Microscopic details become averaged when investigating bulk materials. At macro- or large scale range ordinarily studied in traditional fields of physics such as mechanics, electricity and optics the sizes of the objects under study range from millimeters to kilometers. The properties of these materials are averaged properties, such as the density and elastic moduli in mechanics, the resistivity and magnetization in electricity and magnetism. When measurements are made in the micrometer or nanometer ranges, this is not the case [4]. This is why some of the important issues in nanoscience relate to size effects, shape phenomena, quantum confinement and optical excitations of individual and coupled finite systems [16].

Based on the above definition of nanomaterials, they can be classified into three major groups [5,17,18].

- 1) Zero-dimensional (0D) nanomaterials
- 2) One-dimensional (1D) nanomaterials
- 3) Two-dimensional (2D) nanomaterials

Type of nanomaterial	Nanostructures	Size	Materials
0D	Quantum dots	Diam. 1-10nm	Metals, semiconductors, Magnetic
	Nanocrystals		material
	Nanoparticles	Diam. 1-100nm	Ceramic oxides
	Nanowires		Metals, semiconductors oxides,
	Nanorods		sulfides, nitrides
1D	Nanobelts	Diam. 1-100nm	
	Nanocables		
	Nanotubes		Carbon, layered metal chalcogenides
2D	Thin films	Thickness 1-1000nm	A variety of material

Table1. Typical dimensions of nanomaterials along with examples of material used in these types of groups for various applications [19]

2.1. Zero-Dimensional Nanomaterials

Zero-Dimensional nanomaterials are material with all three of their dimensions below 100 nm. Clusters, nanoparticles and quantum dots can be classified as 0D nanomaterials. There have been many reports of synthesis nanoparticles of various materials such as insulators, semiconductors, metals and magnetic materials for different applications. Some of these applications include:

(i) Security: authentication and anti-forgery [19]

(ii) Life science: diagnostics, biological sensors drug delivery and replacement for luminescent and fluorescent dyes in biological probes. For example, for biological process and subcellular metabolic process tracking, quantum dots are joined with biological receptors that can recognize and attach to specific component of living system. Quantum dots offer advantages over conventional fluorescent probes because they can be turned to emit over a wide range of colors yet require only a single excitation source to drive emission.

(iii) Electronics: data storage LEDs. For example, there have been reports of potential use of cadmium sulfide nanoparticles as the next generation phosphors for

general illumination applications [14]. Also, there have been many reports of silicon quantum dots generating light where bulk silicon as an indirect band gap semiconductor does not have this capability [18-21].

Many techniques, including both top-down and bottom-up approaches have been developed and applied for the synthesis of nanoparticles. Top-down approaches include milling or attrition, repeated quenching and lithography. Nanoparticles produced in these methods usually have relatively broad size distribution and they may contain significant amount of impurities. Bottom-up approaches are far more popular in the synthesis of nanoparticles and many methods have been developed. For example, nanoparticles such as Pd, Au [22], TiO₂ [23], Si [24, 25], and MnO_x [26, 27] were synthesized by homogeneous nucleation from liquid or vapor, or by heterogeneous nucleation on substrate.

For fabrication of nanoparticles, a small size is not the only requirement. For any practical application the processing conditions need to be controlled in such a way that resulting nanoparticles have the following characteristics [4]:

- 1) Identical size of all particles
- 2) Identical shape or morphology
- 3) Identical chemical composition and crystal structure
- 4) Individually dispersed or monodispersed

2.2. Two Dimensional Nanomaterial

Two-Dimensional nanomaterials, are structures with one of their dimensions below 100 nm. Thin films and thin layers are among 2D nanomaterials. Perhaps these are the simplest and most well developed form of nanomaterials that are built one atomic layer at a time. Many modern optical, electronic and magnetic devices are manufactured using this technology [14]. Examples of application of thin films can be found in resonator technology [14, 28, 29]. Thin film resonator technology has been under development for over 40 years as means to reach higher frequencies, obtainable with conventional quartz crystal technology. Using advances in micro-electronic processing, thin films of piezoelectric materials are used to fabricate resonators and filters over range of 500MHz to 20GHz [30,31]. Another major application of 2D nanomaterial can be in automobile industry and surface coating technology for various purposes such as protection [32,33]. In addition in recent years, there have been many reports of using thin films in energy technologies such as solar cells [34] and lithium ion batteries [35].

Due to diverse applications of 2D nanomaterial, as mentioned above, deposition of thin films has been a subject of intensive study for almost a century and many methods have been developed and improved. Although there are many methods of these materials, generally thin film deposition involves predominantly heterogeneous processes including heterogeneous chemical reactions, evaporation, adsorption and desorption of growth surfaces, heterogeneous nucleation and surface growth [4].

2.3. One-Dimensional Nanomaterials

One-Dimensional nanomaterials might be the latest type of nanomaterials synthesized and studied for various applications compared to other types of nanomaterials. These structures have been called by a variety of names including: whiskers, fibers or fibrils, nanowires and nanorods. In most cases, nanotubes and nanocables are also considered as 1D nanostructures. But generally 1D nanomaterials are divided into two major groups of nanotubes and nanowires.

2.3.1.Nanotubes

Nanotubes are 1D nanomaterials with hollow structures. There are many reports about nanotube synthesis of various organic and inorganic materials. But one type of the well known nanotubes synthesized are carbon nanotubes. Following the discovery of carbon nanotubes in 1991 [36], synthesis of these nanostructures have attracted tremendous attention due to their superior mechanical properties, unique electronic behavior and their potential applications in various fields. These nanotubes are unique allotropes of carbon due to configuration of the carbon atoms that form the nanotube structure. Carbon nanotubes possess many desirable properties, including high mechanical strength and flexibility, excellent electrical and thermal conductivity. These collective set of properties makes carbon nanotubes very desirable material for many applications including high strength composite materials, nanoscale transistors and fuel cell electrodes.

There have been reports of nanotubes structures based on other materials such as titania nanotubes [37], Fe and its oxides [38,39], Ni [39], Co [39], Si and SiO₂ [40] and

manganese oxide [41,42]. Compared to carbon nanotube studies, inorganic nanotubes started much later due to the difficulties in synthesizing these structures. Like carbon nanotubes, these inorganic nanotubes exhibit unique properties which make them ideal candidates for various applications such as catalyst, energy technologies and electronics.

2.3.2. Nanowires

Nanowires, nanorods and nanobelts constitute an important class of 1D nanostructures which provide models to study the relations between electrical transport, optical and other properties with dimensionality and size confinement. In comparison with quantum dots and carbon nanotubes, the advancement of these 1D nanostructures has been slow until very recently, as hindered by the difficulties associated with the synthesis of nanowires with well controlled dimension, morphology, phase purity and chemical composition [43]. These materials are expected to play important roles as interconnects, functional components in the fabrication of nanoscale electronic and optoelectronic devices and electrochemical applications. Many studies have demonstrated the unique properties of nanowires and nanorods, such as superior mechanical toughness [44], high luminescence efficiency [45] and higher catalytic activity.

Until now nanowires with different compositions have been explored, while large part of these work have been focused on semiconductor systems. Researchers have reported the synthesis of nanowires such as Si and its oxides [46-48], Ge [49, 50], GaN [51], GaAs [52], ZnO [53], WO_x [54], V₂O₅ [55], Mn₃O₄ [56], Al₂O₃ [57] and so on. These nanowires with various properties have applications in energy technologies such as fuel cells, solar cells, and batteries, In order to study of new physical properties and applications of these materials, the current challenges still are controlled synthesis with controlled size, morphology, microstructure and chemical composition. To do so, the increased understanding of growth mechanisms is critical.

3. Growth mechanisms of Nanowires

The synthesis of nanowires with controlled composition, size purity and crystallinity requires a proper understanding of the nucleation and growth process at the nanometer regime. Many techniques have been developed for the synthesis and formation of one dimensional nanostructured materials. Recently, 1D nanostructures have been fabricated using nanolithographic techniques such as electron beam or focused ion beam writing, proximal probe patterning and X-ray lithography. These methods are generally not very cost effective and rapid for the purpose of making large quantities of the 1D nanostructures. Several other ways of growing nanowires such as laser ablation, and template assisted growth have also been explored. Laser ablation and template assisted approaches provide large quantities of nanowires but do not control over the composition, size or orientation direction of nanowires. However, chemical methods tend to be superior and provide an alternative strategy for nanowire generation. Chemical methods include solution and vapor based methods and precursor methods as well as solvothermal, hydrothermal and carbothermal methods.

In these methods, several strategies have been developed for 1D nanostructures with different levels of control over the growth parameters. These include [19]:

- the use of the anisotropic crystallographic structure of the solid to facilitate 1D nanowire growth
- 2) the introduction of a solid-liquid interface to reduce the symmetry of a seed
- 3) the use of templates with 1D morphologies to direct the formation of nanowires
- 4) the use of supersaturation control to modify the growth habit of a seed
- 5) the use of capping agents o kinetically control the growth rates of various facets of a seed
- 6) self assembly of 0D nanostructures

Based on these strategies, chemical methods developed for the growth of nanowires can be categorized in different ways. In some cases, these methods can be divided into four groups such as [4]:

i) Spontaneous growth: this is driven by the reduction of Gibbs free energy or chemical potential. The reduction of Gibbs free energy is commonly realized by phase transformation or chemical reaction or the release of stress. This group includes methods such as vapor deposition growth or stress induced re-crystallization.

ii) Template base synthesis: in this group nanowires are deposited on templates with nanosized channels. The most commonly used and commercially available templates are anodized alumina membranes. The difference of methods in this group is usually in the process of deposition of material. Electroplating, electrophoretic deposition colloid dispersion melt and solution filling are some of the methods belonging to this group. iii) Electrospinning: this method was originally developed for generating ultra thin polymer fibers. In this method electrical forces are used to produce polymer fibers with nanometer scale diameters.

iv) Lithography: includes various techniques such as ion beam lithography, electron beam lithography and X-ray lithography. In these methods generally nanoscale features are defined in a thin film of photoresist and material are deposited in these channels.

Researchers have also categorized the chemical methods into:

- 1) solution based approaches to nanowires
- 2) nanowire growth in the gas phase

3.1. Solution-based approaches to nanowires

This synthetic strategy for nanowires makes use of anisotropic growth dictated by the crystallographic structure of a solid material or confined and directed by templates or kinetically controlled by supersaturation, or by the use of appropriate capping agents.

3.1.1.Non-Template methods

Many solid materials such as polysulphur nitride (SN_x) grow into 1D nanostructures and this habit is determined by the highly anisotropic bonding in the crystallographic structure [19]. Other materials such as selenium, tellurium and molybdenum chalcogenides are also easily obtained as nanowires due to the anisotropic bonding which makes the crystallization occur along the c-axis favoring the stronger covalent bonds over the relatively weak van der Waals forces between the chains [19]. Gates et al. [58], synthesized a spherical colloidal suspension/dispersion of amorphous (a-) selenium dissolved in the solution precipitates out as nanocrystallites of triagonal Se (t-Se). During aging of this dispersion in the dark, the a-Se dissolves slowly in the solution and subsequently crystallizes out slowly on a t-Se seed. The intrinsic anisotropic nature of t-Se building blocks that is extended, helical chains of Se atoms in the triagonal phase assembles ultimately into nanowires of t-Se.

These non-template directed methods are readily extended to a range of other solid materials whose crystallographic structures are characterized by chain like building blocks.

3.1.2. Template methods

Template-based synthesis of nanostructured materials is a very general method and can be used in fabrication of nanorods, nanowires and nanotubules of polymers, metals, semiconductors and oxides. In this technique, the template simply serves as a scaffold against which other kinds of materials with similar morphologies are synthesized. In other words, the *in situ* generated materials are shaped into a nanostructure with its morphology complementary to that of the template.

Various templates with nanosized channels have been explored for the template growth of nanorods and nanotubules. The most commonly used and commercially available templates are anodized alumina membranes. Other membranes have also been used as templates such as nanochannel array glass, radiation track-etched mica, and mesoporous materials, porous silicon by electrochemical etching of silicon wager, zeolites and carbon nanotubes. Alumina membranes with uniform and parallel porous structures are made by anodic oxidation of aluminum sheet in solution of sulfuric, oxalic or phosphoric acids. In addition to the desired pore or channel size, morphology, size distribution and density of pores, template materials must meet certain requirements. First template material must be compatible with the processing conditions. For example an electrical insulator is required for a template to be used in electrochemical deposition. Secondly depositing materials or solution must wet the internal pore walls. Thirdly for the synthesis of nanorods or nanowires the deposition should start from the bottom or one of the template channels and proceed from one side to another.

The nanowires themselves can be used as templates to generate the nanowires of other materials. The template may be coated onto the nanowire forming coaxial nanocables [59] or it may react with the nanowires forming a new material [60]. In the physical approach the surface of the nanowires could be directly coated with conformal sheaths made of a different material to form coaxial nanocables. Subsequent dissolution of the original nanowires could lead to nanotubes of the coated material. The sol-gel coating method is a generic route to synthesize coaxial nanocables that may contain electrically conductive metal cores and insulating sheaths.

Template directed synthesis of nanorods covered by carbon and other materials has been reported in the literature. Sloan et al., [61] found out that single walled carbon nanotubes can be filled up to 50% by silver by employing the KCl-UCl₄ and AgCl-AgBr eutectic systems to produce nanowires.

3.1.3. Solution-liquid-solid process

This method was developed by Buhro's research group [62] and was first applied for the synthesis of InP, InAs and GaAs nanowires with solution-phase reactions at relatively lower temperatures (below 230°C). In a typical procedure a metal (e.g. In, Sn, Bi) with low melting point was used as a catalyst and the desired material was generated through the decomposition of organometallic precursors.

Holmes et al. [63] used colloidal catalysts to control the diameters of silicon nanowires grown by solution-liquid-solid growth. Bulk quantities of defect free silicon nanowires with nearly uniform diameter ranging from 4 to 5 nm were grown to a length of several micrometers. In their study it was found that supercritical conditions are required to form the alloy droplets and to promote silicon crystallization. The diameter and length of nanowires grown by solution liquid solid methods can be controlled by controlling the size of liquid catalyst and the growth time.

There have been other solution based methods such as solvothermal processes developed for the synthesis of 1D nanostructures. These methods have been extensively examined. For example, in solvothermal process, a solvent is mixed with certain metal precursors and possible crystal growth regulating or templating agents such as amines. The solution mixture is placed in an autoclave kept at relatively high temperature and pressure to carry out the crystal growth and assembly process. The methodology seems to be quite versatile and has been demonstrated to be able to produce many different crystalline semiconductors nanorods and nanowires.

3.2. Vapor phase growth of nanowires

Vapor phase growth is commonly used to produce nanowires, starting with simple evaporation technique in an appropriate atmosphere to produce elemental or oxide nanowires. Generally differences between methods in this group are [19]:

- Mechanisms used for the synthesis of nanostructures mostly depend on the composition of nanowires and conditions of the process
- 2) Vapor generation sources

To understand the process of nanowire growth for better control of their microstructure and composition in vapor phase growth methods, several mechanisms have been proposed. Vapor-liquid-solid (VLS), Vapor solid (VS), Solid-liquid-Solid (SLS) and oxide assisted growth are some of the major mechanisms studied for this purpose.

3.2.1. Vapor-liquid-solid growth

The growth of nanowire via a gas phase reaction involving this process has been extensively studied. Wagner in 1960's, during his studies on the synthesis of large single crystalline whiskers, proposed this mechanism. According to this mechanism, the anisotropic crystal growth is promoted by the presence of a liquid alloy solid interface [19]. His mechanism was widely accepted and applied to understanding the growth of various nanowires, such as Si and Ge. As an example, Xia et al. [64] explained the growth of Ge nanowires using Au clusters as solvent at high temperatures based on the Ge-Au binary phase diagram shown in figure 2.



Figure 2. Ge-Au Binary phase diagram [64].

The schematic diagram of Ge nanowires grown using VLS mechanism is illustrated in figure 3. According to this diagram and Ge-Au binary phase diagram the Ge and Au will form a liquid alloy when the temperature is higher than the eutectic point. The liquid surface has a large accommodation coefficient and is therefore a preferred deposition site for incoming Ge vapor. After the liquid alloy becomes supersaturated with Ge, Ge nanowire growth occurs by precipitation at the solid-liquid surface. A real time observation of Ge nanowire growth conducted in an *in situ* high temperature transition electron microscope showed a sequence of TEM images which directly mirrors the proposed VLS mechanism. This VLS method has been exploited in the past several decades to produce 1-100µm diameter 1D structures (whiskers). By controlling the nucleation and growth it is possible to produce nanowires.



Figure3. Schematic diagram of Ge nanowire grown using VLS mechanism [64].

The synthesis of nanowires using this mechanism requires several conditions. The requirements for this mechanism include:

- 1) Catalyst and source material: by knowing the equilibrium phase diagram one can predict the catalyst material and growth conditions for the VLS approach.
- 2) Method to vaporize the source material and melt the catalyst

Nanowires grown by this method usually have certain features which help identify their growth mechanism. For example, most of nanowires synthesized using the VLS process have a catalyst droplet at their tip. But this is not always the case and depends on the interaction of liquid catalyst droplet with the substrate. There have been reports of nanowire synthesized using VLS method with catalyst particles at the base of nanowires [65-67]. This is similar to growth process of carbon nanotubes.

3.2.2. Vapor-solid growth

Besides VLS mechanism, the classical vapor solid method for whiskers growth has also been reported for the growth of 1D nanomaterials. In this process, the vapor is first generated by evaporation, chemical reduction or gaseous reaction. The vapor is subsequently transported and condensed onto a substrate. The VS method has been used to prepare oxide metal whiskers with micrometer diameters. Hence it is possible to synthesize 1D nanostructures if one can control its nucleation and subsequent growth process. Sears was the first to explain the growth of mercury whiskers by axial screw dislocation induced anisotropic growth in 1955. The mercury whiskers or nanowire were grown by a simple VS method at -50°C under high vacuum. Subsequently a lot of research was devoted to studying the growth of nanostructures using this methods and researchers revealed that the growth of nanorods or nanowires is not necessarily controlled by the presence of defects [2].

Usually nanowires and nanorods grown by VS method are single crystals with fewer imperfections. The formation of 1D nanostructures through this method are due to anisotropic growth. Several mechanisms are known to result in anisotropic growth. For example:

1) Different facets in a crystal have different growth rates

2) Presence of imperfections in specific crystal directions such as screw dislocation

3) Preferential accumulation or poisoning by impurities on specific facets Also in case of synthesis of nanowires and nanorods, it is known that the impurities have differential adsorption on various crystal facets in a given crystal and the adsorption of impurity would retard the growth process. Impurity poisoning has often been cited as one of the reasons which resulted in anisotropic growth during synthesis of nanowire and nanorods [2].

Using this method, nanowires for oxides of Zn [68], Sn [69], In [70], Mg [71] and Ga [72] has been attempted.

3.2.3.Oxide assisted growth

In contrast to the well established VLS and VS mechanism, there have been reports of nanowire growth using different processes. One of these processes is oxide assisted nanowire growth. Lee et al., reported the synthesis GaAs nanowires by oxide assisted laser ablation of mixture of GaAs and Ga_2O_3 [44]. The GaAs nanowires have lengths up to tens of micrometers and diameter in the range 10-120 nm. The oxide assisted nanowire growth mechanism was further applied for production of various nanostructures such as Si and SiO_x [73], Copper sulphide [45], boron [74] and MgO [75] nanowires. The nanowire growth via this process is not very clear and researchers have proposed various steps for the growth process depending on the materials.

3.2.4. Solid-liquid-solid growth

In general, a high temperature is required in the growth of nanowires by methods mentioned above. Recently it has been reported that at these temperatures, another growth process can be activated called solid-liquid-solid (SLS). This process is similar to VLS mechanism but doesn't fall in the category of vapor based approach for nanowire synthesis.

There are few reports of synthesis of 1D nanostructures following SLS and mostly focus on silicon based material. Yan et al. [46], reported the synthesis of Si nanowires following this mechanism using Ni as catalyst. They proposed that since the concentration of Si in the vapor phase was negligible at temperatures they carried out the experiments and because the substrate was covered only by a thin layer of Ni therefore the only possible silicon source was from the silicon substrate. Figure 4, shows a schematic diagram of silicon nanowires grown using Ni as catalyst via SLS growth mechanism.



Figure 4. Schematic diagram of Si nanowire synthesized using Ni catalyst via SLS growth mechanism [46].

They proved that the Ni layer reacts with Si substrate at high temperatures and from eutectic liquid alloy droplets and after supersaturation of the droplets by silicon diffused through the substrate nanowires are synthesized [46].

There have been reports of other vapor based synthesis mechanism, such as carbothermal reactions which mostly based on the type of material.
4. Synthesis methods

Base on these growth mechanisms, several vapor deposition methods have been developed for the synthesis of 1D nanostructures. The two most important techniques are:

- 1) Physical vapor deposition (PVD)
- 2) Chemical vapor deposition (CVD)

4.1. Physical vapor deposition

PVD is a process of transferring growth species from a source or target and deposit them on a substrate to often form thin films, but by adjusting the conditions (such as templates and catalysts) it can be applied for the synthesis of nanostructures of certain material. The process proceeds atomistically and mostly involves no chemical reactions. Various methods have been developed for the removal of growth species from the source or target.

In general, PVD methods can be divided into two major groups: evaporation and sputtering. In evaporation, the growth species are removed from the source by thermal means. In sputtering, atoms or molecules are dislodged from solid target through impact of gaseous ions (plasma).

Nanowires synthesized using PVD are usually composed of low melting material such as SnO_2 [76] and CdS [77]. However, using sputtering and plasma enhanced vapor deposition systems researchers have reported the synthesis of some relatively high temperature nanowires.

4.2. Chemical vapor deposition

CVD is the process of chemically reacting a volatile compound of a material to be deposited with other gases to produce a nonvolatile solid that deposits atomistically on a suitable placed substrate [78]. CVD processes for deposition of thin films have been very extensively studied and very well documented, largely due to the close association with solid state microelectronics, however synthesizing nanowires using these methods is at it early stages. Figure 5 shows schematic diagram of nanowires synthesized using a simple CVD method. In this process source material is involved in gas phase reactions and depending on process conditions, nanostructures are deposited on the substrate. This simple process has been used to synthesize many nanowires such as SiO₂ [48], SiC [79], (Ga, Mn)N [80], Mn₃O₄ [56], ZnS [81].



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of nanowires synthesized using a chemical vapor deposition method.

Because of the versatile nature of CVD, the chemistry is very rich and carious types of chemical reactions are involved. Gas phase reactions and surface reactions are intricately mixed. In addition a variety of CVD methods and CVD reactors have been developed depending on the types of precursors used, the deposition conditions applied and forms of energy introduced to the system to activate the chemical reactions desired for the deposition process. For example when metalorganic compounds are used as precursors, the process is generally referred to as MOCVD (metalorganic CVD). Kang et al, synthesized SiC nanowires on Si (100) substrate using Ni as a catalyst and Dichloromethylvinylsilane as a single molecular precursor by MOCVD method [82]. There have also been reports of synthesizing ZnO [53], GaN [51], InP [83], etc When plasma is used to promote the chemical reactions, this is called a plasma enhanced CVD or PECVD. There have been few reports of synthesis of nanowires using this method. Jung et al [47], synthesized cone shaped silicon nanowires using this method. The nanowires were synthesized according to VLS growth mechanism. They used Au as the catalyst and silicon was supplied by introducing SiH₄ in to the chamber. Other CVD methods are laser enhanced or assisted CVD [84] and aerosol assisted CVD or AACVD [85].

5. Thesis Outline and Research Goals

As mentioned in the introduction section, synthesis of 1D nanostructures is one of the key factors for developing nanomaterials and applying them in various potential applications. Chemical vapor deposition method was employed for the synthesis of several nanowires (silicon dioxide and manganese monoxide) for a variety of applications. The effects of process parameters on the final product deposited on the substrates were studied. Nanostructures were characterized using various techniques and possible growth mechanisms were proposed for the synthesis of nanowires deposited.

Chapter 2 is divided into two parts. In the first section, a detailed description of CVD method used for the synthesis of silicon dioxide nanowires on silicon substrate and various experiments carried out to study the effect of parameters such as hydrogen, catalysts and temperature is given. Also, characterization methods applied on the nanostructures are explained. In the second section, similar to the previous section, experimental procedures for the synthesis of manganese monoxide nanowires on different substrates such as silicon and carbon paper are explained and the techniques used for characterization of manganese nanostructures are described.

Chapter 3, networked silicon oxide nanowires were synthesized by a VO₂ assisted chemical vapor deposition at 1000°C without supplying any gaseous or liquid Si source. TEM and SEM observations indicate that the silicon oxide nanowires have smooth surfaces with uniform diameters of 30-100 nm, and their lengths reach to several hundred micrometers. XPS results show that the atomic ratio of silicon to oxygen is about 1:2. Systematic study on the nanowire growth has indicated that morphology and composition of the final products are considerably sensitive to the catalyst components, reaction atmosphere and temperature. In VO₂ assisted growth of SiO₂ nanowires, when H₂ is not introduced to the atmosphere vanadium oxide rod like structures are deposited on the silicon substrate. But for SiO₂ nanowires synthesized using Au, without using H₂ gas it has been seen that the surface of the substrate is covered non-uniformly by very short nanowires. The mechanism of the growth of these nanowires is proposed to be solidliquid-solid (SLS) process. It is also found by increasing the temperature up to 1200°C, the growth mechanism of SiO₂ nanowires changes from solid-liquid-solid (SLS) to vaporsolid (VS) processes since wire like structures can be formed without any catalyst or H₂ gas introduced to the system. These results will help better understand the growth procedure of silicon dioxide nanostructures and synthesize composite nanostructures such as metal silicides for various applications.

Chapter 4, single crystalline MnO nanowires were successfully synthesized on silicon substrate via simple vapor deposition method. The MnO nanowires were characterized as single crystal fcc structure with an average diameter 150 nm and length up to 100µm. The synthesis process and effects of growth parameters such as temperature, heating rate and source/substrate distance on the morphology of nanostructures were systematically studied. By controlling the growth parameters, silicon oxide nanowires and composites of silicon oxide sheet and manganese oxide microwires were also synthesized. One-dimensional MnO nanowires have great potential applications in catalyst and battery technologies.

Chapter 5, preliminary results of synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures on carbon paper have been described. These nanostructures were synthesized based on the results of manganese oxide nanowires on silicon substrate. Results indicate that the morphology of nanostructures and their mechanism change drastically when gold is not used as a catalyst. These nanostructures are expected to be used in electrochemical applications such as fuel cells and batteries.

References:

[1] G. E. Moore, Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, Electronics, 1965, 38, 8

[2] G. Cao, Nanostructures and nanomaterials: Synthesis and applications, Imperial college press, 2004

[3] R. N. Kostoff, R. G. Koytcheff and G. Y. Lau, Global nanotechnology research literature overview, Technological forecasting and social change, 2007, 74, 1733

[4] R.P. Feynman, There is plenty of room at the bottom, Engineering Science, February 1960

[5] C. P. Poole Jr. and F. J. Owens, Introduction to nanotechnology, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2003

[6] A. Rae, how nanotechnology applies to electronics, Circuits assembly, 2006, 17, 4, 26[7] X. B. Xu, Z. M. Li, I. Shi, X. C. Bian and Z. D. Xiang, ultralight conductive carbon nanotubes polymer composites, Small, 2007, 3, 408

[8] G. Hoogers (Ed.), Fuel cell Technology handbook, CRC Press, 2003

[9] S. J. C. Cleghorn, X. Ren, T. E. Springer, M. S. Wilson, C. Zawodunski, T. A. Zawodunski and S. Gottesfeld, International journal of hydrogen energy, 1997,

22,12,1137

[10] J. Larminie and A. Dicks, Fuel cell system explained (2nd Ed.), John Wiley and sons, 2003

[11] L.M. Roen, C. H. Paik and T. D. Jarvi, Electrocatalytic corrosion of carbon support in PEMFC cathodes Electrochemical and solid state letters, 2004, 7, 1, A19

[12] S. Ramaprabhu, N. Rajalakshmi, H. Ryu and M. M. Shaijumon, Performance of polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cell with carbon nanotubes as oxygen reduction catalyst support material, Journal of power sources, 2005, 140, 2, 250

[13] M.S. Saha, R. Li, M. Cai, and X. Sun, High electrocatalytic activity of platinum nanoparticles on SnO₂ nanowire based electrodes Electrochemical and solid state letters, 2007, 10, 8, B130

[14] A. D. Romig Jr., Nanotechnology: Scientific challenges and societal benefits and risks, Metallurgical and materials transactions B, 35, 1021

[15] Y. Gogotsi (ed.), Nanotubes and nanofibers, Taylor and Francis, 2006

[16] Y. Gogotsi (ed.), Nanomaterials Handbook, Taylor and Francis, 2006

[17] P. Alivisatos, Colloidal quantum dots, from scaling laws to biological applications, Pure and applied chemistry, 2000, 72, 3

[18] K. H. Kim, J. H. Shin, N. M. Park, C. huh, T. Y. Kim, K. S. Cho, J. C. Hong and G.Y. Sung, Enhancement of light extraction from a silicon quantum dot light emitting diode containing a rugged surface pattern, Applied physics letters, 2006, 89, 19, 191120

[19] C. N. R. Rao, A. Muller, A. K. Cheetham, The chemistry of nanomaterials synthesis, properties and applications, Vol.1, Wiley-VCH, 2004

[20] I. Sychugov, R. Juhasz, J. Valenta, M. Zhang, P. Pirouz, J. Linnros, Light emission from silicon nanocrystals: probing a single quantum dot, Applied surface science, 2006, 252, 15, 5249

[21] N. M Park, T. S. Kim, S. J. Park, Band gap engineering of amorphous silicon quantum dots for light emitting diodes, Applied physics letters, 2001, 78, 17, 2575

[22] Y. Yang, K. M. Saoud, V. Abdeksayed, G. Glaspell, S. Deevi and M. S. El-Shall, vapor phase synthesis of supported Pd, Au and unsupported bimetallic nanoparticle catalyst for CO oxidation, Catalysis communications, 2006, 7, 5, 281

[23] L. C. Chen and S. H. Pai, In situ measurement and control of electric discharge on submerged arc synthesis process for continuous TiO_2 nanoparticle fabrication, Materials Transactions, 2004, 45, 10, 3071

[24] C. Lam, Y. F. Zhang, Y. H. Tang, C. S. Lee, I. Bello and S. T. Lee, Large scale synthesis of ultrafine Si nanoparticles by ball milling, Journal of Crystal Growth, 2000, 220, 4, 466

[25] R. M. Sankaran, D. Holunga, R. C. Flagan and K. P. Giapis, Synthesis of blue luminescent Si nanoparticle using atmospheric pressure micro discharges, Nano letters, 2005, 5, 3, 537

[26] I. Djerdj, D. Arcon, Z. Jaqlicic and M. Niederberger, Nonaqueous synthesis of manganese oxide nanoparticles, structural characterization and magnetic properties, Journal physical chemistry C, 2007, 111, 9, 3614

[27] M Ghosh, K. Niswas, A. Sundaresan and C. N. R. Rao, MnO and NiO nanoparticles: synthesis and magnetic properties, Journal of materials chemistry, 2006, 16, 1, 106

[28] K. M. Lakin, Thin film resonator technology, IEEE Transactions on ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics and frequency control, 2005, 52, 5, 707

[29] H. Campanella, E. Cabruja, J. Montserrat, A. Uranga, N. Barniol and J. Esteve, Thin film bulk acoustic wave resonator floating above CMOS substrate, IEEE electron device letters, 2008, 29, 1, 28

[30] K.M. Lakin, A review of thin film resonator technology, IEEE microwave magazine, 2003, 4, 4, 61

[31] A. T. Kollias, J. N. Avaritsiotis, Analysis and design of thin film, resonator ladders filters, Microelectronics reliability, 2002, 42, 7, 1133

[32] Y. Taga, Review of plasma thin film technology in automobile industry, Surface and coatings technology, 1999, 112, 339

[33] M. Suzui, review of thin film technology in automobile industry, Materials science and Engineering B, 1998, B51, 1-3, 66

[34] R. B. Bergmann, Crystalline Si thin film solar cells: a review, Applied physics A, 1999, 69, 187

[35] Q. Sun, B. Zhang, Z. W. Fu, Lithium electrochemistry of SiO₂ thin film electrode for lithium ion batteries, Applied surface science, 2008, 254, 13, 3780

[36] S. Iijima, Helical mirotubules of graphitic carbon, Nature 1991, 354, 56

[37] H. Wang, C. T. Yip, K. Y. Cheung, A. B. Djurisic, M. H. Xie, Y. H. Leung and W.

K. Chan, Titania nanotubes-array based photovoltaic cells, Applied physics letters, 2006, 89, 2, 23508

[38] X. Yu, C. Cao, X. An, Facile conversion of Fe nanotubes array to novel α Fe₂O₃ nanoparticle nanotube arrays and their magnetic properties, Chemistry of materials, 2008, 20, 5, 1936

[39] H. Cao, L. Wang, Y. Qiu, Q. Wu, G. Wang, L. Zhang and X. Liu, Generation and growth mechanism of metal (Fe, Co, Ni) nanotube arrays, Chemphyschem, 2006, 7, 1500
[40] X. Wang, Z. Huang, T. Wang, Y. W. Tang and X. C. Zeng, Structure and thermophysical properties of single wall Si nanotubes, Physica B, 2008, 403, 12, 2021

[41] Z. S. Chao, L. Tao, C. G. Sun, M. L. Fan, C. J. Huang, H. L. Wu, H. S. Zhai, a redox assisted supermolecular assembly of manganese oxide nanotubes, Materials research bulletin, 2006, 41, 11, 2035

[42] P. Levy, A. G. Leyva, H. E. Toiani, R. D. Sanchez, Nanotubes of rare earth manganese oxide, Applied physics letters, 2003, 83, 25, 5247

[43] H. Gleiter, Nanostructured materials: basic concepts and microstructure, Acta materialia, 2000, 48, 1

[44] S. T. Lee, N. Wang, Y. F. Zhang and Y. H. Tang, Oxide assisted semiconductor nanowire growth, MRS bulletin, 1999, 24, 36

[45] N. Wang, K.K. Fung, S. Wang and S. Yang, oxide assisted nucleation and growth of copper sulphide nanowire arrays, Journal of crystal growth, 2001, 233, 1-2, 226

[46] H.F. Yan, Y.J. Xing, Q.L. hang, D.P. Yu, Y.P. Wang, J. Xu, Z.H. Xi and S. Q. Feng, Growth of amorphous silicon nanowires via solid-liquid-solid mechanism, Chemical physics letters, 2000, 323, 224

[47] Y. G. Jung, S. W. Jee and J. H. Lee, Effect of oxide thickness on the low temperature ([less-than or equal to] 400°C) growth of cone shaped silicon nanowires, Journal of applied physics, 2007, 102, 4, 046102

[48] Z. Yang, Z. Yu, H. Chen, Z. Jiao, Y. Jin, M. Gong and X. Sun, growth of amorphous SiO₂ nanowires on pre-oxidized silicon substrate via chemical vapor deposition, Journal of non-crystalline solids, 2008, 354, 15-16, 1731

[49] M. Ge, J. F. Liu, H. Wu, C. Yao, Y. Zeng, Z. D. Fu, S. L. Zhang and J. Z. Jiang, Synthesis of germanium nanowires, Journal of Physical chemistry C, 2007, 111, 30, 11157

[50] J. L. L. Falk, E. R. Hemesath, F. J. Lopez, and L. J. Lauhon, Vapor solid solid synthesis of Ge nanowires from vapor phase deposited manganese germanide seeds, Journal of the American chemical society, 2007, 129, 35, 10670

[51] T. Kuykendall, P. J. Pauzauskie, Y. Zhang, J. Goldberger, D. Sirbuly, J. Denlinger and P. Yang, Crystallographic alignment of high density gallium nitride nanowire arrays, Nature materials, 2004, 3, 8, 524

[52] H. Yu and W. E. Buhro, Solution-liquid-solid, growth of soluble GaAs nanowires, Advanced materials, 2003, 15, 5, 416

[53] W. Lee, M. C. Jeong, J. M. Myoung, Catalyst free growth of ZnO nanowires by metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and thermal evaporation, Acta materialia, 2004, 52, 13, 3949

[54] Z. Liu, Y. Bando and C. Tang, Synthesis of tungsten oxide nanowires, Chemical physics letters, 2003, 372, 1-2, 179

[55] D. Pan, Z. Shuyuan, Y. Chen and J. G. Hou, hydrothermal preparation of long nanowires of vanadium oxide, Journal of materials research, 2002, 17, 8, 1981

[56] Y. Q. Chang, D. P. Yu, y. Long, J. Xu, X. H. Luo and R. C. Ye, large scale fabrication of single crystalline Mn_3O_4 nanowires via vapor phase growth, Journal of crystal growth, 2005, 279, 1-2, 88

[57] J. Zhou, S. Z. Deng, J. Chen, J. C. She and N. S. Xu, synthesis of crystalline alumina nanowires and nanotrees, Chemical physics letters, 2002, 365, 5-6, 505

[58] B. Gates, Y. Yin, Y. Xia, A solution phase approach to the synthesis of uniform nanowires of crystalline selenium with lateral dimensions in the range of 10-30nm, Journal of the American chemical society, 2000, 122, 12582

[59] J. Q. Hu, Y. Bando, J. H. Zhan and D. Golberg, Fabrication of ZnS/SiC nanocables, SiC shelled ZnS nanoribbons (and sheets) and SiC nanotube (and tubes), Applied physics letters, 2004, 85, 14, 2932

[60] X. Jiang, B. Mayers, Y. Wang, B. Cattle and Y. Xia, Template engaged synthesis of RuSe₂ and Pd₁₇Se₁₅ nanotubes by reacting precursor salts with selenium nanowires, Chemical physics letters, 2004, 385, 5-6, 472

[61] J. Sloan, D. M. Wright, s. Bailey, G. Brown, A. P. E. York, K. S. Coleman, M. L. H. Green, J. L. Hutchison and H. G. Woo, Capillary and silver nanowire formation observed inn single walled carbon nanotubes, Chemical communications, 1999, 699

[62] T. j. Trentler, K. M. Hickman, S. C. Goel, A. M. Viano, P. C. Gobbons and W. E.

Buhro, Solution-liquid-solid growth of crystalline III-V semiconductors an analogy to vapor liquid solid growth, Science, 1995, 270, 1791

[63] J. D. Holmes, K. P. Johnston, C. Doty, and B. A. Korgel, Control of thickness and orientation of solution grown silicon nanowires, Science 2000, 287, 1471

[64] Y. Xia, P. Yang, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. Yin, f. Kim and H. Yan, One dimensional nanostructures: Synthesis, Characterization and applications, Advanced materials, 2003, 15, 5, 353 [65] S. Mathur, H. Shen, V. Sivakov and U. Werner, Germanium nanowires and coreshell nanostructures by chemical vapor deposition of $[Ge(C_5H_5)_2]$, Chemistry of materials, 2004, 16, 2449

[66] R. Hauschild, H. Lange, H. Priller, C. Klinshrin, R. Kling, A. Waag, H. J. Fan, M.Zacharias and H. Kalt, Stimulated emission from ZnO nanorods, Physica status solidi B., 2006, 243, 4, 853

[67] H. J. Fan, W. Lee, R. Hauschild, M. Alexe, G. L. Rhun, R. Scholz, A. Dadgar, K. Nielsch, H. Kalt, A. Krost, M. Zacharias and U. Gosele, Template assisted large scale ordered arrays of ZnO pillars for optical and piezoelectric applications, Small, 2006, 4, 561

[68] A. Sekar, S. H. Kim, A. Umar and Y. B. Hahn, Catalyst free synthesis of ZnO nanowires on Si by oxidation of Zn Powders, Journal of crystal growth, 2005, 277, 1-4, 471

[69] N. S. Ramgir, I. S. Mulla and K. P. Vijayamohanan, Effect of RuO₂ in the shape selectivity of submicron-sized SnO₂ structures, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2005, 109, 25, 12297

[70] Y. Yan, Y. Zhang, H. Zeng, J. Zhang, X. Cao and L. Zhang, Tunable synthesis of In₂O₃ nanowires, nanoarrows and nanorods, Nanotechnology, 2007, 18, 17

[71] N. G. Ma, J. Lang and D. H. L. Nq, Preparation of MgO and Fe nanostructure in Mg matrix composite by reaction sintering, Composites science and technology, 2005, 65, 14, 2167

[72] K. W. Chang and J. J. Wu, One dimensional β -Ga₂O₃ nanostructures on sapphire (0001): low temperature epitaxial nanowires and high temperature nanorod bundles, Journal of materials research, 2005, 20, 12, 3397

[73] Y. L. Chueh, L. J. Chou, S. L. Cheng, J. H. He, W. W. Wu and L. J. Chen, Synthesis of taper like Si nanowires with strong field emission, Applied physics letters, 2005, 86, 13, 133112

[74] Z. Li, J. Baca and J. Wu, Applied surface science, 2007, 254, 2, 633

[75] C. Tang, Y. Bando and T. Sato, Oxide assisted catalytic growth of MgO nanowires with uniform diameter distribution, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2002, 106, 30, 7449

[76] S. A. Papargyri, d. N. Tispas, D. A. Papargyris, A. I Botis and A. D Papargyris,
Review on the production and synthesis of nanosized SnO₂, Diffusion and defect data part
B (solid state phenomena), 2005, 106, 57

[77] Y. F. Li, J. Song, Y. Ding, S. Y. Lu, Z. L. Wang, Piezoelectric nanogenerator using CdS nanowires, Applied physics letters, 2008, 92, 2, 022105

[78] M. Ohring, The materials science of thin films, Academic Press, San Diego, 1992
[79] J. Z. Guo, Y. Zuo, Z. J. Li and J. L. Zhang, preparation of SiC nanowires with fins by chemical vapor deposition, Physica E: low dimensional systems and nanostructures, 2007, 39, 2, 262

[80] J. M. Baik and J. L. Lee, ferromagnetic properties of (Ga, Mn)N nanowires grown by a chemical vapor deposition method, Journal of Vacuum science and technology B (Microelectronics and nanometer structure), 2005, 23, 2, 530

[81] J. Z. Liu, P. X. Yan, G. H. Yue, L. B. Kong, R. F. Zhuo and D. M. Qu, synthesis of doped ZnS one dimensional nanostructures via chemical vapor deposition, Materials letters, 2006, 60, 29-30, 3471

[82] B. C. Kang, S. B. Lee and J. H. Boo, Growth of β-SiC nanowires on Si(100) substrates by MOCVD using nickel as a catalyst, Thin solid films, 2004, 464, 215
[83] C. J. Novotny and P. K. L. Yu, vertically aligned, catalyst free InP nanowires grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition, Applied physics letters, 2005, 87, 20, 203111
[84] R. Venuqopal, P. I. Lin, C. C. Liu and Y. T. Chen, Surface enhanced Raman scattering and polarized photoluminescence from catalytically grown CdSe nanobelts and sheets, Journal of the American chemical society, 2005, 127, 32, 11262
[85] X. Hou and k. L. Choy, Processing and application of aerosol assisted chemical vapor deposition, 2006, 12, 10, 583

Chapter Two: Experimental Procedures

1. Silicon oxide nanostructures

1.1. Synthesis

The synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires was carried out in a horizontal tube furnace (LINDBERG /BLUE, Mini-Mite Tube Furnace, Model: TF55035A). Silicon (100) wafers were used as the substrate.

In this method, silicon wafer acted as source of silicon as well as a substrate for the growth of nanowires. Various experiments were carried out to optimize the growth parameters including temperature, gas composition and catalyst material as well as study their effects on the morphology of structures synthesized on the substrate. A summary of experiments conducted in this section is shown in Table 1.

Temperature (°C)	Gas	Additives
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ powder
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	Au layer (3-5nm)
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ /Au
950-1000	Ar	VO ₂ powder
950-1000	Ar	Au layer (3-5nm)
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	
1200	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ powder
1200	Ar/H ₂	Au layer (3-5nm)
1200	Ar/H ₂	

Table1. Summary of experimental conditions studied for the synthesis of silicon oxide nanostructures

To synthesize the nanowires using VO₂ powder, a 5mm x 10mm substrate together with the 150mg of VO₂ powder were placed 10mm apart in an alumina boat which was transferred into the furnace. A schematic diagram of method used for the synthesis of silicon oxide nanostructures is illustrated in figure 1. A flow of high purity argon (200sccm) was used to before heating the system to remove part of the oxygen in present in the chamber. The furnace was heated to 1000° C in 15minitues and kept at this temperature for 5 h. Meanwhile, a constant flow of high purity argon (200 sccm) and hydrogen (20 sccm) was maintained. At the end of experiment, white wool like products were found on the silicon substrate.



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of CVD method used for the synthesis of silicon oxide nanostructures.

To synthesize silicon oxide nanowires using gold catalyst, a 2-5 nm thick gold layer was sputtered on the 5mm x 10mm silicon substrate using Emitech K550X sputter coater. After sputtering, similar growth process was used in the absence of VO_2 powder to synthesize the nanostructures.

1.2. Characterization

The nanowires synthesized were characterized using various methods to better understand the effects of different growth parameters and propose a growth mechanism.

The general morphology of nanowires was observed using a Hitachi S-4500 fieldemission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM) operated at 5.0 kV. Due to nonconductive nature SiO_2 nanostructures, under FESEM at high voltages or high magnifications, nanostructures were charged (charging effect of insulators) causing difficulties in imaging the nanowires. In order to obtain better images, some of the samples were sputtered with a thin layer of gold before SEM observation to overcome the charging problem.

JEOL 2010F transmission electron microscopy (TEM) operated at 200 kV was used to study single SiO₂ nanowires. Selective area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern was taken using this TEM to determine the crystal structure of these nanowires. For composition data, the nanostructures were analyzed by Kratos Axis Ultra Al(alpha) X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) operated at 14 kV.

41

2. Manganese monoxide Nanostructures

2.1. Synthesis

2.1.1. Silicon substrate

Manganese oxide nanowires on silicon substrate were synthesized by vapor deposition method. Schematic diagram of the CVD setup used in the growth process of these nanostructures is shown in figure 2.



Figure2. Schematic diagram of CVD method used for the synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures using manganese powder.

In this method of manganese powder (99%, Aldrich) was used as the source material. Before the growth procedure, a 5mm x 10mm silicon wafer was coated with a 3-5 nm thin gold layer as catalyst using Emitech K550X sputter coater. Gold was chosen based on the binary phase diagram of manganese and gold (figure 3). It can be seen that these material have eutectic point in their phase diagram which makes gold a possible catalyst for the synthesis manganese based nanostructures using VLS mechanism.



Figure3. Simplified binary phase diagram of Au-Mn, showing eutectic point around 960°C.

200mg of Manganese powder was placed in alumina boat and the silicon substrate (Si) was placed over the powder covering the source. The distance between the powder and the substrate was carefully controlled by the height of the alumina boat at about 2-5mm. A schematic diagram of source/substrate is shown in figure 4.



Electric Furnace

Figure 4. Schematic diagram showing substrate-source setup in the quartz tube of CVD process for the synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures on silicon substrate.

The boat was placed at the center of quartz tube and transferred into a horizontal high temperature resistance furnace. The oxygen in the system was partially removed by introducing high purity argon (200sccm) into the chamber before heating the system for 20minitures. The system was heated to 900-1000°C (based on the binary phase diagram) at controlled heating rates (5°Cmin⁻¹ - 50°Cmin⁻¹) for 2 h. During the process, a constant flow of high purity argon (200 sccm) was maintained as carrier medium. Various parameters such as temperature of the system, heating rate and source/substrate distance were varied to control the morphology of the products. After the furnace was cooled down to room temperature, light green products were found on the substrate. The growth conditions studied for the synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures on silicon substrate have been summarized in table 2.

 Table2. Summary of experimental conditions applied to study the effect various growth

 parameters on the morphology of structures deposited on the silicon substrate

Temperature (°C)	Heating rate (°C/min)	Source/substrate distance (mm)
<900	5	2
900	5	2
930	5	2
950	5	2
1000	5	2
930	10	2
930	50	2
930	5	4
930	5	6

2.1.2. Carbon paper substrate

Manganese oxide nanostructures on carbon paper were synthesized using a simple CVD method. Similar to the procedure used in the previous section, a 5mm x 10mm carbon paper was placed on top of 200mg of pure manganese powder in an alumina boat at a 2-5mm distance. The boat was put in a quartz tube and transferred in to horizontal furnace. The system was heated up to 900-1000°C while a constant flow of argon (200 sccm) was maintained in the quartz tube.

In this section, in addition to studying the effects of temperature, source/substrate distance and heating rate, the effects of gold layer on the morphology of nanostructures deposited was also studied. The gold layers with different thicknesses were sputtered on carbon paper using Emitech K550X sputter coater.

2.2. Characterization

The morphology and composition of resultant products on the substrate were characterized by Hitachi S-4500 field-emission scanning electron microscopy (SEM) operated at 5.0 kV and energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX).

Philips CM10 transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and a Jeol 2010 FEG HRTEM operated at 200 kV were used to study the structure of single nanowires and selected area electron diffraction (SAED) operated at 80 kV was applied to determine the crystal structure of the nanowires.

For surface sensitive analysis of silicon nanowires synthesized on the silicon substrate Kratos Axis Ultra Al(alpha) X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) operated at 14 kV was used.

Chapter Three: Vanadium Oxide Assisted Synthesis of Networked Silicon Oxide Nanowires and Their Growth Dependence^{*}

1. Introduction

In recent years, a great deal of attention has been placed on low dimensional materials, such as thin films, nanowires, nanotubes and nanoparticles. Among these nanomaterials, research on one dimensional (1D) materials such as nanowires and nanotubes have increased dramatically due to their anisotropic shape and variable stoichiometry which can offer interesting physical and chemical properties and makes them suitable for various applications. Recently, 1D silicon oxide (SiO_x) nanostructures have attracted considerable interest because of their properties and applications in various technologies such as optics, electronics and chemical sensors [1-5].

Until now, diverse synthesis methods such as vapor transport [1], bio-mimetic strategies [2], laser ablation [3], physical and thermal chemical evaporation [4,5], thermal oxidation [6] and solution methods [7] have been used to prepare silicon based nanostructures with different morphologies including nanowires [1], nanotubes [7] and nanoflowers [8]. Vapor transport methods are often used to grow silicon based nanowires because of their simple systems and fast growth rates compared to solution base methods. Some mechanisms have been proposed for the growth of silicon oxide nanowires using

^{*} This paper will be submitted to Journal of Crystal Growth.

vapor transport methods such as vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) mechanism and vapor-solid mechanism. In these methods, a source material, e.g. Si powder and catalyst like Au (VLS process), is used to grow Si based nanowires [9]. Some studies of growing silicon oxide nanowires directly from silicon substrate without any external silicon source have recently been reported [10-12]. Park et al. [10] synthesized amorphous SiO_x nanowires using Au and Pd-Au alloy as catalysts. Kim et al. [11] found that SiO_x nanowires can be grown from Cu coated silicon substrates. Lee et al. [12] reported the growth of silica nanowires from silicon substrates covered with thin films of TiN/Ni. Some reports using other catalysts such as Fe, Ga, Ga-In and Co have also been presented [11]. Generally, metal particles have been commonly employed as the catalyst to obtain silicon oxide nanowires and solid-liquid-solid (SLS) growth mechanism has been proposed for these processes. However, there are few reports on the catalytic effects of metal oxide on growing silicon oxide nanowires.

In this study, it has been found that uniform silicon oxide nanowires with distinct network features can be synthesized in bulk with the aid of VO₂ powder. Further, we found that the network characteristic of silicon oxide nanowires can be significantly enhanced by combining VO₂ and gold as the co-catalyst. Furthermore, we can obtain SiO₂ nanowires and VO_x nanowires with the control of hydrogen in the system.

In addition, detailed influence of different parameters, such as type of catalyst, atmosphere of the experiment (gases introduced into the system) and temperature has been systematically investigated. The growth process and mechanisms has also been discussed.

2. Results and Discussion

2.1. Effect of Catalyst

In order to study the effect of catalysts on the morphology of silicon oxide nanostructures synthesized on the Si substrate, different options of catalysts were used including Au, VO₂ and Au-VO₂. Figure 1 shows SEM images of silicon oxide nanostructures synthesized using these catalysts at 1000°C, in Ar/H₂ atmosphere for 5 hours. SEM observations illustrate that each catalyst affects the morphology of the deposited nanostructures in different ways.

Figure 1a and 1b show SEM images of networked silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using co-catalysts of VO₂ and Au in the mentioned conditions. As seen in the low magnification SEM image of these nanowires (fig.1a), using the VO₂ powder and a gold thin layer on silicon substrate together, high density of networked silicon oxide nanowires covering the substrate uniformly can be synthesized. The diameter of these nanowires is between 30-70 nm and their length reaches up to tens of micrometers. Higher magnification image of these networked structures (fig.1b) reveals that silicon oxide nanowires have branched structures, suggesting simultaneous nucleation and growth of the nanowires. In some cases, these branched nanowires bundle together forming rope like structures. Metallic catalysts such as Ga [15] and Sn [16] have also been reported to grow similar silicon oxide nanostructures.

SEM images of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using gold as catalyst are shown in figures 1c and 1d. It can be seen (fig.1c), high density of nanowires is synthesized on the substrate. High magnification SEM image (fig.1d) of these nanowires reveals that the nanostructures are composed of thick nanowires and thin nanowirebundles, possibly due to excess of gold on the surface of the silicon substrate. In addition, these images reveal that the morphology of silicon oxide nanowires is similar to the results from co-catalyst of VO₂ and gold, having curved and smooth surface. But compared to the well dispersed network of nanowires grown by the co-catalysts, these nanowires have shorter lengths and wider diameter distribution from 20nm to 200nm as seen in figure 1c. The synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires using gold directly from silicon substrate was previously reported by several other groups. For example, Xing et al. [9] used a silicon substrate coated with a 5nm-thick gold layer in hydrogen and 200 torr at 1000°C. Park et al.[10] reported the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires using gold catalyst directly from the substrate without the use of hydrogen in higher temperatures. They also used an alloy of Pd-Au as catalyst to synthesize silicon oxide nanowires. According to their reports, silicon oxide nanowires could be grown at lower temperature around 1000°C using the alloy catalyst in respect to nanowires grown only with the use of gold at 1150°C.

Figures 1e and 1f show SEM images of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized by heating the silicon substrates with only VO₂ powder at 1000° C in Ar/H₂ atmosphere. Randomly oriented nanowires are seen and bundles are formed in some areas but completely covering the substrate (fig.1e). Figure 1f shows a high magnification image of these bundles. It can be seen that, similar to nanowires synthesized using the co-catalyst, the silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using only VO₂ powder are highly tangled together forming networked structures in low densities. Compared to nanowires grown by gold, these nanowires have lower density but longer length up to tens of micrometers.



Figure1. Typical SEM images of silicon oxide nanostructures synthesized using various catalysts by simple thermal annealing of silicon substrate. a) Low magnification of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using the co-catalyst of VO₂ and Au. b) Increased magnification of silicon oxide network of nanowires synthesized using the co-catalysts. c) Low magnification of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using gold catalyst. d) Increased magnification image of gold assisted grown silicon oxide nanowires with uniform diameter of these nanowires along their length with a with bundles of nanowires on the background. e) Low magnification image of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using VO₂ as a catalyst. f) Increased magnification image of these silicon oxide network of nanowires.

For a detailed study of the effect of VO_2 powder on the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires, TEM observations and XPS measurements were carried out. Figure 2a shows a typical TEM image of the silicon oxide nanowires. The observation reveals that no catalyst particles were found at the tips of the nanowires and the nanowires were clean. In addition, as shown in the inset of figure 2a, the selected area electron diffraction pattern shows that the nanowires are amorphous, smooth and curved morphology of nanowires can be observed. This is similar to reports using other catalysts in these temperatures [10-12]. In TEM observations, it was seen that the nanowires have diameters in the range of 30-100nm similar to the nanowires synthesized using both VO₂ powder and gold catalyst.

The XPS spectrum (fig.2b) of these nanowires illustrates that they are mainly composed of silicon and oxygen with an atomic ratio close to 1:2. This indicates that the nanowires synthesized by thermal heating of silicon substrates with VO₂ powder are mainly SiO₂ nanowires. The carbon peak seen in the XPS spectrum could be from impurities such as carbon oxides absorbed on the silicon oxide nanowires or in the XPS chamber.

No catalyst peaks (vanadium) can be observed in the XPS spectrum which is consistent with TEM and SEM observations. This is different from the result reported by Yang et al. [1], who synthesized amorphous silica nanowires by heating the silicon with a mixture of hydrous zinc chloride and vanadium dioxide powder. In their case, vanadium particles were detected on the tip of silicon oxide nanowires.



Figure2. a) TEM image of silicon oxide nanowires showing smooth morphology and a diameter of 50-70 nm. The SAED pattern shown in the inset reveals a characteristic diffusive ring pattern indicating that silicon oxide nanowires are completely amorphous. b) XPS spectrum of silicon oxide nanowires with silicon to oxygen peak ratio of approximately 0.5, there were no peaks for VO₂, suggesting that the nanowires are pure silicon oxide nanowires.

2.2 Effect of Hydrogen

A number of studies have reported the growth of silicon oxide nanowires from silicon substrate with various catalysts under H₂ atmosphere. Lee et al. [12] used TiN/Ni coated silicon substrate in H₂ atmosphere and synthesized amorphous silica nanowires. Xing et al. [9] reported the growth of silicon nanowires from silicon coated with gold in H₂ atmosphere, a similar condition to our experiment. Recently, Shoa et al. [14] reported the synthesis of low oxygen content silicon nanowires from a single quartz crystal in H₂ atmosphere in relatively high temperatures.

In this study, it was found that the presence of H_2 is essential for the growth of high density of the nanowires in temperatures around 1000°C. Figure 3a shows SEM image of silicon substrate heated with VO₂ powder in only Ar atmosphere at 1000°C.

Unlike previous results using H₂ (figs.1e, 1f), the substrate is covered by rod like structures with variable diameters. EDX results on these structures reveal that these structures are mainly comprised of vanadium and oxygen and the silicon peak is mainly from the substrate itself. According to these observations, H₂ inhibits the deposition of vanadium oxide on the silicon and results in the growth of silicon oxide nanowires. In addition, some controlled experiments were conducted with only Ar/H₂ gas and silicon substrate in the chamber. No products were deposited on the substrate. It can be concluded that both H₂ gasand VO₂ powder are crucial for the growth of high-density networked silicon oxide nanowires.



Figure3. SEM images showing the effect of hydrogen in the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires.
a) SEM image of vanadium oxide structures synthesized on silicon substrate by thermal annealing of silicon substrates in vicinity of VO₂ powder without the presence of H₂ in atmosphere.
b) SEM image of low density of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate coated with gold without the use of H₂ gas.

SEM image of silicon substrate coated with gold in Ar atmosphere at 1000°C (fig.3b) shows that very small nanowires are synthesized on the substrate and there are a few bundles of silicon oxide nanowires non-uniformly distributed on the substrate.

Therefore, the results indicate that H_2 gas in the atmosphere increases the density of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized from the substrate.

It should be noted that in the two cases, a wide range of H_2 flow rate has been applied (60 sccm-180 sccm) and the results indicate that the growth of the silicon oxide nanowires is not sensitive to the amount of hydrogen.

2.3 Effect of Temperature

Temperature also plays an important role on the synthesis and growth mechanism of silicon oxide nanowires. Some studies of synthesizing silicon oxide nanowires directly from the substrate in a range of temperatures from 950°C to 1400°C have been reported previously [2, 6, 14]. In the present study, a series of experiments were conducted to study the effect of temperature on the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowire. It was found that silicon oxide nanowires can be synthesized above 950°C using VO₂ powder or Gold as catalysts in Ar/H₂ atmosphere. The main difference between the nanowires grown in different temperatures is their density and diameter. As the temperature is increased, the density and average diameter of nanowires increases dramatically (from 100 nm to 500 nm). But in temperatures higher than 1200°C, it was seen that silicon oxide wire-like structures with large diameters can be synthesized even without either catalysts or H₂ gas. It was also seen that the products on the substrate are a mixture of microfibers and nanowires and have wide range of diameters from 100 nm to over 1 μ m. From these results, it can be concluded that the presence of catalyst and H₂ is necessary in generating silicon oxide nanowires at lower temperatures (~950°C). At higher

temperatures (~1200°C), neither catalyst nor H_2 is necessary in growing silicon oxide micro and nanowires.

Table 1 summarizes the results from various conditions studied for growing silicon oxide nanowires.

Temperature (°C)	Gas	Additives	Final Morphology
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ powder	SiO ₂ networked nanowires
			networks
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	Au layer (3-5nm)	SiO ₂ nanowires
950-1000	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ /Au	High density SiO ₂ networked
			nanowires
950-1000	Ar	VO ₂ powder	VO _x microrods
950-1000	Ar	Au layer (3-5nm)	Non-uniform short SiO ₂
			nanowires
950-1000	Ar/H ₂		None
1200	Ar/H ₂	VO ₂ powder	SiO ₂ microfibers
1200	Ar/H ₂	Au layer (3-5nm)	SiO ₂ microfibers
1200	Ar/H ₂		SiO ₂ microfibers

Table1. Effect of different parameters on the synthesis of SiO₂ nanostructures

2.4 Growth mechanism

Some mechanisms have been proposed for the growth of silicon oxide nanowires such as vapor-liquid-solid mechanism (VLS) [21, 22]. In this process, Si atoms in the vapor phase are dissolved into the mediating alloy liquid droplets formed at high temperature and then Si nanowires precipitate from the supersaturated alloy droplets [5]. This mechanism requires gaseous Si source material and one of its characteristic is the solidified particles at the tip of nanowires. But in the present study, no external silicon source was used. Based on TEM and SEM observations of silicon nanowires grown in relatively low temperatures (~1000°C), no particles were formed on the tip of nanowires. Therefore, other mechanisms may be responsible for the growth of these silicon oxide nanowires In the case of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using gold, according to several studies, solid-liquid-solid (SLS) mechanism can be the governing mechanism. In this process, the gold catalyst layer forms liquid droplets with silicon from the substrate due to low eutectic point of Au-Si alloy (ca.370°C). Then, silicon atoms diffuse through the substrate-liquid interface into the liquid droplets. When the silicon concentration in the droplets reach the saturation level,, the excess silicon atoms precipitate as nanowires on the interface of droplet and atmosphere [13]. Since similar conditions to previous reports have been used in our experiments, this mechanism might be responsible for the growth of silicon oxide nanowires using gold catalyst.

Yang et al. [1] reported the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires with vanadium acting as the catalyst. They observed the vanadium particle on the tip of nanowires and proposed VLS mechanism for the growth of nanowires. But it still remains unclear why VO_2 can promote the growth of silicon oxide nanowires in this study since catalysts particles were not detected at the nanowire tip. However, there are similarities in the surface morphology of silicon substrate after the synthesis process and growth conditions used between silicon nanowires grown using gold and VO_2 . Consequently, SLS mechanism can be ascribed to the VO_2 assisted growth of silicon nanowires.

In this case, the powder was very close to the substrate and it could touch the substrate in some places and acted as the catalyst forming liquid droplets and enabled the growth of silicon oxide nanowires following SLS mechanism. Through SEM observations, some silicon oxide nanowires were seen on vanadium powders on the silicon substrate.

It should be noted that H_2 plays an important role in this mechanism. A number of studies have reported the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowires in H_2 atmosphere using

catalyst in relatively low temperatures or at higher temperatures without the use of catalysts [4, 13, 14]. In this study according to the experimental results on the effect of H_2 gas, it was seen that the presence of H_2 gas in the annealing atmosphere increases the density silicon oxide nanowires synthesized using gold as catalyst (fig. 1c,d, and fig. 3b) and can positively decrease the synthesis temperature of the silicon oxide nanowires. Also, H₂ gas prevents the deposition of vanadium oxide structures on silicon substrate and enhances the growth of silicon oxide nanowires. Previous reports have proposed that the role of H₂ is to enhance the supersaturation of liquid droplet and build up the driving force for the precipitation of silicon as silicon nanowires [9, 13]. This might be true to some extent. However, since we have also used argon instead of H₂ and there are distinct differences in the results in both cases, effect of hydrogen is supposed beyond the statement claimed in these studies. Considering the studies done by Kuribayashi et al. [19] on the shape transformation of silicon trenches, the activation energy for diffusion under a low hydrogen pressure is much higher than that under ultra high vacuum conditions. This suggests that surface diffusion of silicon atoms is enhanced in the presence of small amount of hydrogen in the atmosphere which can explain the synthesis of high density silicon oxide nanowires in the current experiments.

For silicon oxide nanowires synthesized at higher temperatures (~1200°C) as reported by Zhang et al. [20], various conditions including different catalysts were used and none of any metal/Si droplets were detected on the tips of nanowires, proposing a vapor-solid (VS) mechanism for the silicon oxide nanowires synthesized at 1200°C temperature.

Considering the melting point of silicon oxide, silicon and the thickness of the native silicon oxide on the substrate, it has been mentioned in various studies that, at

temperatures around 1200°C and above, silicon and native silicon oxide can react according to the following reaction [20]:

$$Si_{(S)} + SiO_{2(S)} = 2SiO_{(G)}$$

The product of this reaction in the gas phase can react as shown below and SiO_2 is formed in the solid phase.

$$2SiO_{(G)} = SiO_{2(G)} + Si_{(G)}$$

 $Si_{(G)} + O_{2(G)} = SiO_{2(S)}$

In this mechanism, catalyst is not necessary and the sources of oxygen can be residual oxygen in Ar and the CVD chamber.

As seen by changing the temperature, the mechanism involved in synthesizing silicon oxide nanostructures changes and the deciding factor for the yield and morphology of these nanostructures varies as well. Thus, it is believed that the present work provides better understating of the synthesis mechanism and further studies are currently being done on different materials.

3. Conclusion

In summary, we have successfully synthesized the silicon oxide nanowire network with diameters of 30-100nm by heating the silicon substrate with VO₂ powder at the temperature around 1000°C. In addition, it was found that the mixture of VO₂ and gold as co-catalysts enhances the achievement of silicon oxide nanowires with network characteristic. The microscopic characterization indicates that SLS mechanism governs the synthesis of these nanowires at lower temperatures (<1000°C), while VS mechanism dominates at higher temperature (~1200°C). Further, the presence of H₂ gas is important in elevating nanowire density at temperatures below 1000° C but at higher temperatures (~1200°C), mixture of microfibers and nanowires are synthesized without the use of any metal catalyst or H₂.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), Canadian Space Agency, NSERC Canada Research Chair (CRC) Program, Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI), Ontario Research Fund (ORF), Ontario Early Researcher Award (ERA) and the University of Western Ontario.

Reference:

 [1] Y. Yang, B.K. Tay, X.W. Sun, H.M. Fan and Z.X. Shen, Photoluminescence and growth mechanism of amorphous silica nanowires by vapor phase transport, Physica E., 2006, 31, 218

[2] S. A. Davis, S.L. Burkett, N.H. Mendelson and S. Mann, Bacterial templating of ordered macrostructures in silica and silica-surfactant mesophases Nature, 1997, 385, 420

[3] Y.Q. Zhu, W.B. Hu, W.K. Hsu, M. Torrones, N. Grobert, T. Karali, H. Torrones, J.P. Hare, P.D. Townsend, H.W. Kroto and D.R.M. Walton, A simple route to silicon base nanostructures, Advanced materials, 1999, 11, 844

[4] Y.J. Xing, Z.H. Xi, D.P. Yu, Q.L. Hang, H.F. Yan, S.Q. Feng and Z.Q. Xue, growth of silicon nanowires by heting Si substrate, Chinese physics letters, 2002, 19, 2, 240
[5] D.W. Kwak, H.Y. Cho and W.-C. Yang, Dimensional evolution of silicon nanowires synthesized by Au-Si island catalyzed chemical vapor deposition, Physica E., 2007, 37, 153

[6] J.Q. Hu, Y.Jiang, x.M. Meng C.S. Lee, S.T. Lee, A simple large-scale synthesis of very long aligned silica nanowires, Chemical physics letters, 2003, 367, 339

[7] M. Zhang, Y. Bando, K. Wada and K. Kurashima, Synthesis of nanotubes and nanowires of silicon oxide, J Journal of material science letters, 1999, 18, 1911

[8] Y.J. Chen, J.B. Li, Y.S. Han and J.H. Dai, Self assembly of Si and SiO_x

nanostructures, Journal of material science letters, 2002, 21, 2, 175

[9] Y. J. Xing, D.P. Yu, Z.H. Xi and Z.Q. Xue, silicon nanowires grown from Au coated Si substrate, Applied Physics A., 2003, 76, 551

[10] H. K. Park, B. Yang, S.W. Kim, G.H. Kim, D.H. Youn, S.H. Kim and S.L. Maeng, formation of silicon oxide nanowires directly from Au/Si and Pd-Au/Si substrates, Physica E., 2007, 37, 158

[11] H.W. Kim, S.H. Shim, J.W. Lee, characteristics of SiO_x nanowires synthesized via the thermal heating of Cu coated Si substrates, Physica E., 2007, 37, 163

[12] K.H. Lee, C. Lofton, K. Kim, W.S. Seo, Y. Lee, M.H. Lee and W. Sigmund, Photoluminescence from amorphous silica nanowires synthesized using TiN/Ni/SiO₂/Si and TiN/Ni/Si substrates, Solid state communications, 2004, 131, 687
[13] H.F. Yan, Y.J. Xing, Q.L. Hang, D.P. Yu, Y.P. Wang, J. Xu, Z.H. Xi and S.Q. Feng, Growth of amorphous silicon nanowires via a solid-liquid-solid mechanism, Chemical physics letters, 2000, 323, 224

[14] M. Shoa, H. Hu, H. Ban, M. Li and H. Goa, Fabrication of large scale, layer deposited low oxygen content and uniform silicon nanowires, Journal of crystal growth, 2007, 303, 391

[15] Z. Pan, S. Dai, D.B. Beach and D.H. Lowndes, Nano letters 3 (2003) 1279
[16] S.H. Sun, G.W. Meng, M.G. Zhang, Y.F. Hao, X.R. Zhang, and L.D. Zhang, Journal of physical chemistry B., 2003, 107, 13029

[17] C.X. Xu, X.W. Sun, M.B. Yu, Y.Z. Xiong, Z.L. Dong and J.S. Chen, Magnetic nanobraids of iron-doped amorphous silica, Applied physics letters, 2004, 85, 22, 5364
[18] C.H. Liang, L.D. Zhang, G.W. Meng, Y.W. Wang and Z.Q. Chu, preparation and characterization of amorphous SiO_x nanowires, Journal of Non-Crystal Solids, 2000, 277, 63

[19] H. Kuribayashi, R. Hiruta, R. Shimizu, K. Sudoh and H. Iwasaki, shape transformation of silicon trenches during hydrogen annealing, Journal of vacuum science and technology A, 2003, 21, 4, 1279

[20] Y. Zhang, N. Wang, R. He, J. Liu, X. Zhang and J. Zhu, a simple method to synthesize Si_3N_4 and SiO_2 nanowires from Si or Si/SiO_2 mixture, Journal of crystal growth, 2001, 233, 803

[21] P. K. Sekhar, N. S. Ra,qur, R. K. Joshi and S. Bhansali, Selective growth of silica nanowires using an Au catalyst for optical recognition of interleukin-10, Nanotechnology, 2008, 19, 24, 245502

[22] Z. Xiao, L. Zhang, G. Meng, X. Tian, H. Zeng and M. Fang, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2006, 110, 32, 15724

Chapter Four: Synthesis and Characterization of Single Crystalline MnO Nanowires by Vapor Phase Deposition Method^{*}

1. Introduction

Featuring their variable oxidation states, manganese oxides have attracted substantial attention due to their superior magnetic, electrical and chemical properties, which promise great potential in superconductivity, catalysts, sensors, battery, corrosion and high temperature applications [1-7].

In recent years, considerable research has been focused on nanostructured manganese oxides [3-13]. It has been well documented that nanostructured manganese oxides possess unique electronic, optical and magnetic properties, showing quite different behaviors compared to their counterparts in bulk phase due to their anisotropic feature in morphologies, size and shape. Moreover, properties of the manganese oxide nanostructures can be readily modified by tailoring their size and structure [8]. Studies on MnO nanoparticles and nanorods have shown that these nanostructures exhibit ferromagnetic behavior while bulk MnO is anti-ferromagnetic [5, 9,14]. Seo et al, [15] reported the size dependent magnetic behavior of colloidal Mn₃O₄ and MnO nanoparticles, which can be used for sensor applications. Chen et al [11] also showed that manganese oxide nanorods have high specific capacitance and a good reversibility, which makes them an excellent candidate as an electrode material for electrochemical capacitors. Apart from magnetic properties, it has been reported that MnO nanocrystals

^{*} This paper will be submitted to Journal of Material Research.

have higher oxygen reduction activity compared to bulk MnO in alkaline aqueous solutions [8]. Further, Yang et al [10] showed that one-dimensional manganese monoxide nanostructures exhibit catalytic function on the oxidation and decomposition of the methylene blue dye with H₂O₂. More recently, Lahann [16] reported that MnO nanowires could separate water and oil. Therefore, it can be seen that MnO nanostructures can be used in various applications as electrodes in electrochemical applications. However, the synthesis of mono-phase manganese oxides with well-controlled dimensionality and single crystal structure is still a major challenge [17].

So far, several methods have been developed to synthesize nanostructured manganese oxides with different morphologies such as nanowires and nanorods. Yang et al [10] synthesized manganese oxide nanorods using heat treatment of nanostructured precursors of γ -MnOOH. Park et al [5] reported the growth of MnO nanospheres and nanorods by thermal decomposition of Mn-Surfactant complexes. Wang et al [17] synthesized manganese dioxide nanowires and nanorods by hydrothermal method based on the redox reactions of MnO₄⁻ and Mn²⁺. In addition, other methods such as reflux [18], sol-gel [19] and different types of hydrothermal processes [4, 6, 20,21] also have been used for the production of manganese oxide nanostructures. Further, the influence of different growth parameters in these methods has been extensively studied [20-22]. However, vapor phase deposition methods have been rarely employed to synthesize mono-phase manganese oxide nanowires [12, 23,24] due to uncontrollable phase transformation of multivalent manganese oxides (MnO₂, Mn₂O₃ and Mn₃O₄).

In the present work, we report a facile way of synthesizing high density, single crystalline and highly pure MnO nanowires using a vapor deposition method. Detailed influence of experiment parameters on the final product has been systematically investigated to control the morphology and phase structure of the manganese monoxide nanowires. Keeping the starting materials unchanged, manganese oxide nanowires, silicon oxide nanowires, and the nanocomposites of silicon oxide nanowalls on manganese oxide microwires were selectively obtained.

2. Results and Discussion:

Manganese oxide nanowires were synthesized on a silicon substrate after optimization of various growth parameters. The general morphology of the products was initially observed by SEM technique. Figure 1a shows a typical SEM image of the product. It reveals that the product consists of dense nanowires that uniformly cover the silicon substrate. The length of the resultant nanowires is up to 100µm. EDX spectrum, as shown in Figure 1b, indicates that the nanowires are mainly composed of manganese and oxygen. The weak silicon peak in the spectrum comes from the silicon substrate.



Figure1. a) SEM images of manganese oxide nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate with 3-4nm, showing uniform coverage of silicon substrate. b) EDX spectrum of manganese oxide nanowires on silicon substrate with 3-4 nm gold.

TEM observations indicate that diameter of the nanowires ranges from 70-250 nm with a mean value of 150 nm. Figure 2a shows a typical TEM image of a single nanowire with the diameter of around 170 nm. The selected area electron diffraction (SAED) pattern (Figure 2b) taken from this nanowire reveals single crystalline nature of the nanowire and the reflections can be indexed as (220) crystal plane of face centered cubic (fcc) MnO phase. HRTEM analysis (Figure 2c) of manganese monoxide nanowires shows that the nanowire have relatively smooth surface. The clear lattice fringes in Figure 2c confirm high quality crystallinity of the nanowire. The inter-planar spacing is measured as 0.25 nm corresponding to the {111} plane of MnO crystal structure.



Figure2. a) TEM image of a MnO nanowire with a diameter of about 150 nm. b) SAED pattern of the nanowires which corresponds to fcc-MnO phase. c) HRTEM image of manganese oxide nanowires.

During our experimental process, it has been found that morphology of the structures is very sensitive to the involved growth parameters, such as synthesis temperature, distance of source (manganese powder)/substrate and heating rate of the reaction system. In order to understand the growth mechanism of the MnO nanowires, effects of the growth parameters on the nanowires composition and structure were systematically studied.

2.1 Effect of temperature

Based on a group of experimentally optimized parameters, influence of temperature on the growth of manganese oxide was initially investigated. Figure 3 shows SEM images of the products deposited on the substrate at 900°C, 930°C and 960°C, respectively. Below 900°C, no manganese structures were obtained on the substrate. At the temperature of 900°C, the substrate was covered with microparticles as shown in Figure 3a. EDX analysis illustrates that these particles mainly consist of manganese and oxygen, and a weak signal of gold was detected as well. Here, this is due to the gold as catalyst sputtered on the substrate. By increasing the temperature to 930°C, very straight nanowires were observed on the substrate (Fig.3b), which is identical to the manganese oxide nanowires grown under the optimized growth conditions. While some nanowires have very sharp tips, other nanowires have thicker tips up to 150 nm in diameter. At a higher temperature of 960°C, the density and length of nanowires increases (Fig.3c). However, the nanowires synthesized at these temperatures have rougher surfaces and non-uniform diameters along their length up to 350 nm.



Figure3. SEM images showing the effects of synthesis temperature on the nanostructures. a) Particles deposited on the substrate in temperatures at 900°C. b) Nanowires synthesized in 930°C. c) Nano & micro-wires synthesized in temperatures 960°C.

2.2 Effect of source/substrate distance

Besides the synthesis temperature, the distance of source/substrate is shown as a significant factor affecting not only morphology but also composition and phase structure of the product. When the distance of source/substrate is less than 2 mm, manganese oxide nanowires were obtained. Increasing the source/substrate distance to more than 6 mm, the substrate was covered with high density of thin and tangled nanowires with the morphology completely different from the manganese oxide nanowires mentioned above, as shown in Figure 4a. XPS results shown in Figure 4b indicate that the nanowires consist

of silicon and oxygen with the stoichiometry ratio of 1 to 2 (SiO₂). According to TEM observations (Figure 4c), SiO₂ nanowires have a narrow diameter range of about 70 nm and the diffraction pattern shown in inset of figure 4c illustrates amorphous nature of these nanowires. When the distance was kept at 4 mm, the products were composed of a mixture of manganese oxide nanowires and silicon oxide nanowires.



Figure4. SEM images of silicon oxide nanowires synthesized by increasing the distance between manganese powder and silicon substrate to more than 5mm. a) SEM image of silicon oxide nanowires shows that these nanowires have uniform diameters below 100 nm and cover the substrate uniformly. b) XPS results from these nanowires shows that the Si:O ratio is around 1:2 which indicates that these nanowires are mainly SiO₂ nanowires. c) TEM image of silicon oxide nanowires showing smooth surface with narrow diameter range of 70nm. The inset is the SAED pattern of these nanowires taken under TEM reveals that these nanowires have amorphous structure.

2.3 Effect of heating rate

Interestingly, it has been observed that the final composition and structure of the product is considerably dependent on the heating rates of the reaction system. Generally, a low heating rate favored the deposition of manganese oxide nanowires (5°C/min in this case), while keeping other optimized conditions (930°C, 2mm of source/substrate distance) (Figure 1), the morphology of deposited structures changed dramatically by increasing the heating rate of the process. Figure 5a shows a low magnification SEM image of the microstructures that cover the substrate uniformly at a heating rate of 50°C/min. Higher



Figure5. SEM images of structures synthesized by increasing the heating rate of the experiment to 50°C/min while keeping other parameters at unchanged. a) low magnification SEM image shows that the composites structures cover the silicon substrate relatively uniformly. b) Higher magnification SEM images shows that these structures are comprised of micro-wires in their core with sheet like structures covering these wires. Initial characterizations via EDX show that the core wire is mainly composed of manganese and oxygen and the sheet covering the wire are mostly silicon oxide as seen in the EDX taken from these structures.

magnification SEM image in Figure 5b reveals that these structures are composed of a microwires covered by epitaxial nanowalls. EDX analysis indicates that the microwires consist of manganese and oxygen elements while only silicon and oxygen were detected on the nanowall-like structure, indicating a composite structure of the product. Our experimental results have shown that increasing the heating rate (5 to 50°C/min) favors the growth of the composite structure and restrains the deposition of manganese oxide nanowires. Further characterization of these structures will be carried out in future.

2.4 Growth mechanism

In the present study, a thin gold layer has been sputtered on the substrates to act as the catalyst and manganese oxide nanowires were failed to obtain without the use of the gold layer. Therefore, vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) mechanism has been proposed here to interpret the growth of manganese oxide nanowires, which is similar to the previous reports [23, 24]. According to this mechanism, Mn and Au form liquid alloy droplets when temperature is around their eutectic point. The liquid surfaces have large accommodation coefficient and are therefore preferred deposition sites for the incoming vapor [25]. After the liquid alloy droplets become supersaturated with Mn, MnO precipitates as nanowires due to residual oxygen in the system. However, catalyst droplets were not observed at the tip of the manganese oxide nanowires during the TEM observations in this study, which is unlike several studies on the synthesis of nanowires following the VLS mechanism. Here we intend to propose two possible reasons: one is due to fragile nature of manganese oxide nanowires which causes the nanowires to break in the TEM sample preparation process. The other is similar to the cases in the previous

reports [26-28], in which the manganese oxide nanowires were synthesized following the base growth model of VLS mechanism.

As discussed above, the effect of various parameters on the morphology, composition and structure of the product is supposed to be related to species and pressure of the formed gaseous atoms in the reaction chamber. At a lower temperature (ca. 900°C or below in this case), partial pressure of manganese vapor was low and could not feed the growth of the nanowires. Higher temperatures would increase supersaturation degree of manganese vapor (ca.930°C in this case), which triggered the anisotropic growth of the nanowires. However, exceedingly high supersaturation degree with further increase of the temperature (ca.960°C or higher) might result in radial growth of the nanowires and thicker nanowires were generated.

For the source/substrate distance factor, the distance directly influences the amount of manganese vapor reaching the substrate. At short distances, the substrate is exposed to large amount of manganese vapor enabling the formation of manganese oxide nanowires, while the longer distance makes the amount of manganese deposited on the substrate decrease. In addition, it is possible to synthesize silicon oxide nanowires directly from silicon substrate using gold as catalyst governed by solid-liquid-solid (SLS)[29,30] or VLS [31] mechanism in similar experimental conditions. Under the conditions in the present study, there is a competition between the growth of manganese oxide nanowires and silicon oxide nanowires. Therefore, the density of silicon oxide nanowires increased with increasing the source/substrate distance, and finally only silicon oxide nanowires were synthesized at long distances.

In contrast to the growth of silicon oxide nanowires, which is independent of the heating rate, the achievement of manganese oxide nanowires is determined to a great extent by the control of the heating rate. It is possible that higher heating rate would increase the rate of oxidation of manganese powder inhibiting the partial evaporation of manganese powder, decreasing the amount of manganese vapor in the system. Hence, high heating rate increases the possibility of growth of silicon oxide structures from the substrate along with low density of manganese oxide structures.

In general, the growth parameters have to be carefully controlled to obtain manganese monoxide nanowires with sole phase structure.

3. Conclusions

In summary, high quality crystalline MnO nanowires were successfully synthesized using a simple vapor phase deposition method on silicon substrate with a thin layer of gold as catalyst. SEM observations showed dense and uniform growth of the nanowires with the length up to 100µm. HRTEM image and SAED pattern evidenced single crystalline face centered cubic nature of the MnO nanowires. The systematic study of the growth process indicated that the synthesis of these nanowires was very sensitive to growth parameters such as temperatures, source/substrate distance and heating rate. The controlled growth of manganese oxide nanowires, silicon oxide nanowires and manganese oxide/silicon oxide composite nanostructures could be obtained by modulating the growth parameters. The obtained MnO nanowires in the present study are expected to have great potential in magnetic field applications, catalyst and electrochemical capacitors. In addition, these nanowires provide suitable precursors to synthesize other types of manganese oxides.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by Canadian Space Agency, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), the NSERC Canada Research Chair (CRC) Program, the Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI), the Ontario Research Fund (ORF), the Ontario Early Researcher Award (ERA) and The University of Western Ontario.

References:

[1] S. K. Nayak and P. Jena, Equilibrium Geometry, stability and magnetic properties of small MnO clusters, Journal of the American chemical society, 1999 121, 644

[2] C. N. R. Rao and B. Raveau, Transition metal oxides, VCH Publishers, Inc., New York 1995

[3] Y. Q. Chang, D. P. Yu, Y. Long, J. Xu, X. H. Luo and R. C. Ye, Large scale fabrication of single crystalline Mn_3O_4 nanowires via vapor phase growth, Journal of crystal growth, 2005, 279, 88

[4] D. Yan,, P. X. Yan, G. H. Yue, J. Z. Liu, J. B. Chang, Q. Yang, D. M. Qu, Z. R. Geng, J. T. Chen, G. A. Zhang and R. F. Zhuo, Self assembled flower like hierarchical spheres and nanobelts of manganese oxide by hydrothermal method and morphology control of them, Chemical physics letters, 2007, 440, 134

[5] J. Park, E. Kang, C. J. Bae, J. G. Park, H. J. Noh, J. Y. Kim, J. H. Park, H. M. Park and T. Hyeon, Synthesis, characterization and magnetic properties of uniform sized MnO nanospheres and nanorods, Journal of physical chemistry B., 2004, 108, 13594

[6] Y. Chen, Y. Zhang, Q. Z. Yao, G. T. Zhou, S. Fu and H. Fan, Formation of α -Mn₂O₃ nanorods via a hydrothermal assisted cleavage decomposition mechanism, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2007, 180, 1218

[7] G. H. Du, Z. Y. Yuan and G. V. Tendeloo, Transmission electron microscopy and electron energy loss spectroscopy analysis of manganese oxide nanowires, Applied physics letters, 2005, 86, 063113

[8] S. Shanmugam and A. Gedanken, MnO octahedral nanocrystals and MnO-C core shell composites: synthesis, characterization and electrocatalytic properties, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2006, 110, 24486

[9] M. Ghosh, K. Biswas, A. Sundaresan and C.N. R. Rao, MnO and NiO nanoparticles: synthesis and magnetic properties, Journal of materials chemistry, 2006, 16, 106

[10] Z. Yang, Y. Zhang, W. Zhang, x. Wang, Y. Qian, X. Wen and S. Yang, Nanorods of manganese oxides: synthesis, characterization and catalytic application, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2006, 179, 679

[11] H. Chen, X. Dong, J. Shi, J. Zhao, Z. Hua, J. Gao, M. Ruan and D. Yan, Templated synthesis of hierarchically porous manganese oxide with a crystalline nanorod framework and its high electrochemical performance, Journal of materials chemistry, 2007, 17, 855
[12] K. Ramesh, L. Chen, F. Chen, Z. Zhong, J. Chin, H. Mook and Y. F. Han, Preparation and characterization of coral like nanostructured α-Mn₂O₃ catalyst for catalytic combustion of methane, Catalysis communications, 2007, 8, 1421
[13] G. An, P. Yu, M. Xiao, Z. Liu, Z. Miao, K. Ding and L. Mao, Low temperature synthesis of Mn₃O₄ nanoparticles loaded on multi-walled carbon nanotubes and their application in electrochemical capacitors, Nanotechnology 2005, 19, 275709
[14] G. H. Lee, S. h. Huh, J. W. Jeong, B. J. Choi, S. H. Kim and H. C. Ri, Anomalous Magnetic properties of MnO nanoclusters, Journal of the American chemical society, 2002, 124, 12094

[15] W. S. Seo, H. H. Jo, K. Lee, B. Kim, S. J. J. Oh and J. T. Park, Size-dependent magnetic properties of Mn_3O_4 and MnO nanoparticles, Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2004, 43, 1115

[16] J. Lahann, Nanomaterials clean up, Nature nanotechnology, 2008, 3,320

[17] X. Wang and Y. Li, Synthesis and formation mechanism of Manganese dioxide nanowires/nanorods, Chemistry- A European journal, 2003,9,1, 300

[18] N. Kijima, H. Yasuda, T. Sato and Y. Yoshimura, preparation and characterization of open tunnel oxide α -MnO₂ precipitated by ozone oxidation, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2001, 159, 94

[19] C. Shao, H. Guan, Y. Liu, X. Li and X. Yang, Preparation of Mn₂O₃ and Mn₃O₄ nanofibers via an electrospinning technique, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2004, 177, 2628

[20] V. Subramanian, H. Zhu, R. Vajtai, P. M. Ajayan and B. Wei, Hydrothermal synthesis and pseudocapacitance properties of MnO₂ nanostructures, Journal of physical chemistry B., 2005, 109, 20207

[21] L. X. Yang, Y. j. Zhu, W. W. Wang, H. Tong and M. L. Ruan, Synthesis and formation mechanism of nanoneedles and nanorods of manganese oxide octahedral molecular sieve using an ionic liquid, Journal of physical chemistry B., 2006, 110, 6609

[22] L. X. Yang, Y. J. Zhu, H. Tong, W. W. Wang and G. F. Cheng, Low temperature synthesis of Mn₃O₄ polyhedral nanocrystals and magnetic study, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2006, 179, 1225

[23] C. W. Na, D. S. Han, D. S. Kim, J. Park, Y. T. Jeon, G. Lee and M. H. Jung, Ferromagnetism of MnO and Mn₃O₄ nanowires, Applied physics letters, 2005, 87, 142504

[24] Y. Q. Chang, D. P. Yu, Y. Long, J. Xu, X. H. Luo and R. C. Ye, Large scale fabrication of single crystalline Mn_3O_4 nanowires via vapor phase growth, Journal of crystal growth, 2005, 279, 88

[25] C.N.R. Rao, F.L. Deepak, G. Gundiah, A. Govindaraj, Inorganic nanowires, progress in solid state chemistry, 2003,31,5

[26] S. Mathur, H. Shen, V. Sivakov and U. Werner, Germanium nanowires and coreshell nanostructures by chemical vapor deposition of $[Ge(C_5H_5)_2]$, Chemistry of materials, 2004, 16, 2449

[27] R. Hauschild, H. Lange, H. Priller, C. Klinshrin, R. Kling, A. Waag, H. J. Fan, M. Zacharias and H. Kalt, Stimulated emission from ZnO nanorods, Physica status solidi B., 2006, 243, 4, 853

[28] H. J. Fan, W. Lee, R. Hauschild, M. Alexe, G. L. Rhun, R. Scholz, A. Dadgar, K. Nielsch, H. Kalt, A. Krost, M. Zacharias and U. Gosele, Template assisted large scale ordered arrays of ZnO pillars for optical and piezoelectric applications, Small, 2006, 4, 561

[29] H. K. Park, B. Yang, S.W. Kim, G.H. Kim, D.H. Youn, S.H. Kim and S.L. Maeng, formation of silicon oxide nanowires directly from Au/Si and Pd-Au/Si substrates, Physica E., 2007, 37, 158

[30] Y.J. Xing, Z.H. Xi, D.P. Yu, Q.L. Hang, H.F. Yan, S.Q. Feng and Z.Q. Xue, growth of silicon nanowires by heating Si substrate, Chinese physical letters, 2002, 19, 2, 240
[31] Y. J. Xing, D.P. Yu, Z.H. Xi and Z.Q. Xue, silicon nanowires grown from Au coated Si substrate, Appl. Phys. A, 2003, 76, 551

Chapter Five: Synthesis and Characterization of One Dimensional Manganese Oxide Nanostructures on Carbon Paper Substrate

1. Introduction

Over the past decade, one dimensional nanostructures such as nanotubes and nanowires have attracted significant research interests due to their unique properties and potential applications in various fields including electronics, optics and electrochemical applications (e.g. fuel cells and battery technologies). Depending on the needs of various applications, certain criteria are also necessary to evaluate the growth quality of nanostructures. For mechanical applications, it is important to be able to synthesize large amounts of the nanostructures and have good mechanical connection between the nanostructures and the substrate, while for electrochemical applications it is important that the nanostructures are electrically connected to an acceptable electrode.

As far as the electrochemical applications of nanostructures are concerned, careful selection of an appropriate substrate is essential to ensure high electrical connection between the electrodes and the substrate. Among various conductive substrates, carbon paper substrate would be an ideal conductive substrate/electrode for electrochemical applications. Indeed, compared to metallic substrate, carbon paper is a synthetic thin, lightweight matrix with super gas penetration, which has significant advantages over metallic substrates for practical electrochemical based applications. Previously, carbon nanotubes have been proposed as a suitable candidate for producing nanostructured

^{*} This paper will be submitted to Journal of Chemical Physics Letter.

electrodes on carbon paper due to their high electrical conductivity, superior chemical stability [1-4].

Therefore, various techniques have been developed to synthesize carbon nanotubes directly on carbon paper substrates. Recently, Sun et al. [5] reported the synthesis carbon nanotubes network on carbon paper by ohmically heating silane dispersed catalyst site on the substrate. In addition, several researchers [1, 2, 6] have used simple chemical vapor deposition methods (CVD) for the synthesis of carbon nanotubes on carbon paper for the applications in proton exchange membrane fuel cells. These reports indicate that using these structures improves their performance as electrodes in electrochemical applications.

More recently, nanowires have been proposed as electrodes used in fuel cells in a similar way to carbon nanotubes. It has been suggested that direct synthesis of nanowires on carbon paper would greatly improve their electrochemical performance. However, there have been very few reports of synthesizing nanowires on carbon paper. Li et al. [7] reported the synthesis of aligned heterostructures of composite of tin nanowires and amorphous carbon nanotubes with potential electrochemical applications. Further, Saha et al. [8, 9] synthesized SnO_2 nanowires on carbon paper as supports of Pt alloys for fuel cell applications.

In the past few years, nanostructured manganese oxides have attracted considerable research interests due to their superior catalytic properties [10] and their possible applications in fuel cells [11, 12], Li-ion batteries [13], electrochemical capacitors [14] and sensors [15, 16]. Chen et al. [14] showed that manganese oxide nanorods have high specific capacitance and a good reversibility, which makes them an excellent candidate as an electrode material for electrochemical capacitors. It has been

79

reported that MnO nanocrystals have higher oxygen reduction activity compared to bulk MnO in alkaline aqueous solutions [17]. Further, Yang et al. [10] showed that onedimensional manganese monoxide nanostructures exhibit catalytic function on the oxidation and decomposition of the methylene blue dye with H₂O₂. More recently, Lahann et al. [18] reported that MnO nanowires could separate water and oil. In these reports, nanowires or nanorods generally were synthesized by sol-gel [19] and various hydrothermal methods [10, 14, 20-22] but not many by CVD method [23, 24].

In this study, manganese oxide nanowires and nanobelts have been selectively synthesized on carbon paper substrate by using a catalyst (gold) assisted or catalyst free thermal evaporation of manganese powder under an argon gas atmosphere. Effects of growth parameters such as temperature, catalyst and substrate on morphology and structure of the manganese oxide nanostructures have been systematically investigated. Such structures formed on commercially-used carbon paper are expected to not only improve the performance of manganese based electrodes, but also push the nanostructures towards practical fuel cells and sensors applications.

2. Result and Discussion

After the experiment, the obtained product grown from a gold sputtered carbon paper displayed a light green color. The overall structure of the synthesized product was initially characterized with XRD technique. Figure 1 displays the XRD pattern taken from the products on carbon paper. Miller indices are indicated on each diffraction peak. The diffraction peaks at around 34.86°, 40.46° and 58.56° are assigned to (111), (200) and (220) crystal planes of MnO (PDF No. 07-0230), respectively, indicating that the nanostructures have face centered cubic (fcc) MnO crystal structure. The peaks around 26.3° and 54.3° are assigned to carbon (002) and (004) crystal planes from the carbon paper substrate. Hence, the as-synthesized products can be well determined as pure and well-crystallized MnO.



Figure 1. XRD pattern from MnO nanowires synthesized on carbon paper with a 15nm thick gold layer.

These MnO nanostructures were synthesized on carbon paper in similar conditions used for the synthesis of MnO nanowires on silicon substrate [25]. However, systematic study on the effects of different growth parameters on the morphology of nanowires synthesized on the carbon substrate indicated many differences compared to the results obtained on the silicon substrate.

It has been found that the optimized values for a number of growth parameters such as synthesis temperature were somewhat different from the optimized conditions for the nanowire growth on silicon substrate. Highest density of manganese oxide nanostructures with small diameters were synthesized at around 970°C (50°C degrees higher than growth temperature used to synthesize MnO nanowires on silicon substrate). In addition, our experimental results indicated that the growth process of MnO nanowires on carbon paper is not very sensitive to some of the growth parameters studied in the synthesis of MnO nanowires on silicon substrate. At higher heating rates and longer substrate (carbon paper)/source (Mn powder) distances, no silicon nanowires or composite structures were deposited on the carbon paper since silicon source was not present in the system, which is different from the growth on silicon substrate. These parameters only influenced the density and length of the nanowires synthesized on carbon paper. Generally, increase of the heating rate or the distance of substrate and Mn powder, the density and length of the nanowires decreased since carbon paper surface was exposed to less Mn vapor.

During the experiments, interestingly, SEM observations revealed that, unlike the MnO nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate, the morphology of nanostructures deposited on carbon paper was dependant on the thickness of the gold layer sputtered on the substrate. Figure 2 illustrates the effect of the gold layer thickness on the morphology of nanowires synthesized on carbon paper. SEM images of the nanowires synthesized on carbon paper (fig.2a, 2b) indicate that high-density nanowires grow randomly on the carbon fibers with no preferential directions. Length of the nanowires is up to 20 μ m. High magnification image of these nanowires in inset of figure 2b shows that these nanowires show sharper tips compared to MnO nanowires synthesized on silicon substrate. The diameter of these nanowires along their longitudinal

axis varies from several hundred nanometers at the base of nanowires to few tens of nanometers at their tip.



Figure2. SEM images of MnO nanowires synthesized on carbon paper with a thin gold layer of a,b) 5nm, c, d) 10nm and e,f) 15nm showing the change in the morphology of nanowires deposited with the thickness of the catalyst layer.

Compared to the nanowires synthesized on carbon paper with a 5nm thick gold layer, the density of MnO nanowires synthesized on a 10 nm thick gold layer is higher as

shown in figure 2c and 2d. SEM images of these nanowires show that the average length of these nanowires is around $30\mu m$ and the length of some nanowires even reaches over 50 μm . A high magnification image of these nanowires (inset of fig.2d) shows a similar morphology to the nanowires synthesized with thinner gold layer (inset of fig.2b). However, it can be seen that nanowires with sharp tips are actually composed of two distinct parts. The diameter of the lower parts of these nanowires is around 300-500 nm and near the tip the diameters suddenly decreased to about 100 nm. The length of the section with reduced diameter is about few micrometers.

While a thick gold layer of 15nm was sputtered on the substrate, SEM images of the nanowires in figures 1e and 1f indicate that further increase of gold layer will increase the density of nanowires compared to figure 2c and 1a. However, as seen in figure 1f, thicker gold layer on carbon fibers does not considerably affect the length of nanowires. Similar to the previous two samples, high magnification SEM image of these products (inset of figure 2f) reveals that the nanowires also show sharp and needle-like tips. However, the density of nanowires possessing sudden diameter reductions has been reduced and most of the nanowires show a uniform decrease in their diameter from bottom to tip.

To further study the effect of substrate nature on the growth of the manganese oxide nanostructures, detailed experiments were carried out on carbon paper with different buffer layers including titanium sputtered, tungsten sputtered and bare carbon paper substrate. Optimized growth conditions were applied to deposit manganese oxide nanostructures on these substrates. SEM images of the nanostructures deposited on these three types of substrates are shown in figure 3. It is observed that, in the absence of a gold layer, the morphology of the nanostructures changes dramatically. Similar changes relating to morphological transition of 1D nanostructures have been previously reported by other researchers. Zhang et al. [26] observed a morphological transition between α -Al₂O₃ nanowires and nanobelts due to change in their experimental conditions.



Figure3. SEM images of MnO nanostructures synthesized on a,b) carbon paper, c,d) tungsten sputtered carbon paper, and e,f) titanium sputtered carbon paper in a catalyst free condition, revealing the dependence of the morphology of manganese oxide nanostructures on structure and composition of the substrate.

As shown in figure3a and 3b, SEM images of the product grown on the bare carbon paper (fig.3a, 3b) indicate that manganese oxide nanobelts with very low density were deposited while no catalyst layer was used. The lengths of these nanobelts are up to several hundred micrometers. The width of these nanobelts decreases uniformly from the base (around 6-10 μ m) to their tips (few micrometers).

While tungsten sputtered carbon paper substrate was employed, as shown in figure3c and 3d, SEM observations reveal an increase of the nanobelts density compared to the bare carbon paper. Higher magnification image of the nanobelts indicate that these nanobelts exhibit similar structure to the nanobelts deposited on the bare carbon paper. However, when titanium sputtered carbon paper substrate, the density of the1D manganese oxide nanostructures decreased significantly. The microfibers of titanium sputtered carbon paper were mainly covered with manganese oxide microparticles instead of nanobelts, as shown in figure 1e and 1f. These results illustrate that the morphology and structure of manganese oxide nanostructures is sensitive to the composition of buffer layers sputtered on carbon paper.

According to SEM observations and results of synthesizing manganese oxide nanowires on silicon substrate, we intend to propose possible growth mechanism of the synthesis of MnO nanowires and nanobelts on carbon paper, though further characterizations are needed to confirm the synthesis mechanism. In the synthesis of MnO nanowires on silicon substrate with a gold layer, it was concluded that the gold layer acts the catalyst. Vapor-liquid-solid (VLS) mechanism (similar to reports on the synthesis of Mn₃O₄ nanowires [23, 24]) with a base growth model was proposed for the synthesis of these nanowires on silicon substrate. Several other researchers have reported the synthesis of other types of nanowires using this model [27-29]. Based on our experimental results, this mechanism is also suitable for interpreting the synthesis of MnO nanowires on the gold sputtered carbon paper. During the heating process the evaporated manganese vapor from the source (manganese powder) would diffuse into the gold layer making Au-Mn liquid alloy droplets. By further heating the system, the liquid alloy droplets would be supersaturated with Mn species. Then the Mn species with high supersaturation level would precipitate from the droplet as a solid reacting with the trace oxygen in the carrier gas or from air leakage or residue oxygen in the reaction tube and form manganese oxide nanowires.

However, this mechanism is not applicable for explaining the formation of MnO nanobelts on carbon paper due to different substrate conditions. Previously, the VLS process has been employed to interpret the growth of some nanobelts such as SnO [30], ZnO [31], CdS [32] and In₂O₃ [33]. The characteristic of the VLS growth process is the existence of metal nanoparticles which serve as the catalyst between the vapor feed and the solid product. In the current experiments, no catalyst layers were employed. Therefore, we suggest that the formation of MnO nanobelts might be dominated by the vapor-solid (VS) growth mechanism. At high temperatures (900°C – 1000°C), manganese vapor was formed on top of Mn powder, which can react with oxygen in the system and yield small MnO solid particles. The produced MnO particles would deposit on carbon paper substrate and act as the initial nuclei of the MnO nanobelts. With increasing temperatures, the mobility of atoms or molecules is enhanced and the low energy surfaces of a crystal tend to be flat [34, 35], which prevents the accumulation of the newly arrived molecules onto these surfaces and trigger the achievement of the nanobelts. On the other hand, formation of nuclei and aggregation of more MnO species on the growth front

during the VS process also depends on the morphology and structure of the substrate as seen in figure 3.

3. Conclusions

In Summary, high density manganese monoxide nanowires and nanobelts were selectively synthesized on carbon paper substrate using a catalyst-assisted or catalyst free growth process, respectively. Vapor-liquid-solid process was proposed for the growth mechanism of the manganese oxide nanowires, while vapor-solid was thought to be the governing mechanism during the nanobelts growth due to the catalyst free condition of synthesizing the nanobelts. In the VLS growth process, it was found that the structure and density of the nanowires were very sensitive to the thickness of gold layer sputtered on carbon paper. For the nanobelt growth governed by the VS mechanism, the density of these nanobelts was found to be dependant on the buffer layer sputtered on carbon paper, which illustrates their growth dependence on the morphology and composition of the substrate. The obtained MnO nanostructures (nanowires and nanobelts) are expected to have great applications in catalyst and electrochemical applications such as fuel cells. In addition, these nanostructures can provide suitable precursors to synthesize other types of manganese oxide nanostructures.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), General Motors of Canada, NSERC Canada Research Chair (CRC) Program, Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI), Ontario Research Fund (ORF), Ontario Early Researcher Award (ERA) and the University of Western Ontario.

References

 [1] X. Sun, R. Li, D. Willers, J. P. Dodelet, S. Desilets, Composite electrodes made of Pt nanoparticles deposited on carbon nanotubes grown on fuel cell bakings, Chemical Physics letters, 2003, 379, 1-2, 99

[2] M. S. Saha, R. Li and X. Sun, high loading and monodispersed Pt nanoparticles on multi-walled carbon nanotubes for high performance proton exchange membrane fuel cells, Journal of power sources, 2008, 177, 314

[3] F. Yuan and H. Ryu, The synthesis, characterization and performance of carbon nanotubes and carbon nanofibers with controlled size and morphology as a catalyst support materials for PEMFC, Nanotechnology, 2004, 15, 10, S596

[4] X. Wang, M. Waje and Y. Yan, CNT-based electrodes with high efficiency for PEMFC, Electrochemical and solid state letters, 2005, 8, 1, A42

[5] X. Sun, B. Stansfield, J. P. Dodelet, S. Desilets, Growth of carbon nanotubes on carbon paper by ohmically heating silane dispersed sites, Chemical physics letters, 2002, 363, 5-6, 415

[6] C. Wang, M. Waje, X. Wang, J. M. Tang, R. C. Haddon, Y. Yan, Proton exchange membrane fuel cells with carbon nanotube based electrodes, Nano letters, 2004, 4, 2, 345
[7] R. Li, X. Sun, X. Zhou, C. Mei and X. Sun, Aligned heterostructures of single crystalline tin nanowires encapsulated in amorphous carbon nanotubes, Journal of physical chemistry C, 2007, 111, 26, 9130

8] M. S. Saha, R. Li, X. Sun, Composite of Pt-Ru supported SnO₂ nanowires grown on carbon paper for electrocatalytic oxidation of methanol, Electrochemistry communications, 2007, 9, 9, 2229

[9] M. S. Saha, R. Li, M. Cai and X. Sun, high electrocatalytic activity of platinum nanoparticles on SnO₂ nanowire based electrodes, Electrochemical and solid-state letters, 2007, 10, 8

[10] Z. Yang, Y. Zhang, W. Zhang, x. Wang, Y. Qian, X. Wen and S. Yang, Nanorods of manganese oxides: synthesis, characterization and catalytic application, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2006, 179, 679

[11] A. Verma, A. K. Jha and S. Basu, Manganese dioxide as a cathode catalyst for a direct alcohol or sodium borohydride fuel cell with a flowing alkaline electrolyte, Journal of power sources, 2005, 141, 1, 30

[12] I. A. Raj and k. I. Vasu, Characterization of electrolytic MnO₂ based oxygen electrodes for alkaline water electrolyser/fuel cell reactions, International journal of hydrogen energy, 1990, 15, 10, 751

[13] S. Lee, B. Choi, N. Hamasuna, C. Fushimi and A. Tsutsumi, Characterization of MnO₂ positive electrode for fuel cell battery (FCB), Journal of power sources, 2008, 181, 1, 2627

[14] H. Chen, X. Dong, J. Shi, J. Zhao, Z. Hua, J. Gao, M. Ruan and D. Yan, Templated synthesis of hierarchically porous manganese oxide with a crystalline nanorod framework and its high electrochemical performance, Journal of materials chemistry, 2007, 17, 855 [15] S. Yao, J. Xu, Y. Wang, X. Chen, Y. Xu and S. Hu, Ahighly sensitive hydrogen peroxide amperometric sensor based on MnO₂ nanoparticles and dihexadecyl hydrogen phosphate composite film, Analytica chemical acta, 2006, 557, 1-2, 78

[16] T. Kato, Y. Tanaka, T. Hirata, S. Kumamoto and K. Miyazaki, Humidity sensing characteristics of manganese oxide prepared by sol-gel method, Journal of Materials science letters, 1997, 16, 21, 1771

[17] S. Shanmugam and A. Gedanken, MnO octahedral nanocrystals and MnO-C core shell composites: synthesis, characterization and electrocatalytic properties, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2006, 110, 24486

[18] J. Lahann, Nanomaterials clean up, nature nanotechnology, 2008, 3,320

[19] C. Shao, H. Guan, Y. Liu, X. Li and X. Yang, Preparation of Mn₂O₃ and Mn₃O₄ nanofibers via an electrospinning technique, Journal of solid state chemistry, 2004, 177, 2628

[20] X. Wang and Y. Li, Synthesis and formation mechanism of Manganese dioxide nanowires/nanorods, Chemistry- A European journal, 2003,9,1, 300

[21] L. X. Yang, Y. j. Zhu, W. W. Wang, H. Tong and M. L. Ruan, Synthesis and formation mechanism of nanoneedles and nanorods of manganese oxide octahedral molecular sieve using an ionic liquid, Journal of physical chemistry B., 2006, 110, 6609

[22] G. H. Yue, H. P. X. Yan, D. Yan, D. M. Qu, X. Y. Fan, M. X. Wang and H. T. Shang, Solvothermal route synthesis of single-crystalline α -MnO₂ nanowires, Journal of crystal growth, 2006, 294, 2, 385

[23] C. W. Na, D. S. Han, D. S. Kim, J. Park, Y. T. Jeon, G. Lee and M. H. Jung,
 Ferromagnetism of MnO and Mn₃O₄ nanowires, Applied physics letters, 2005, 87,
 142504

[24] Y. Q. Chang, D. P. Yu, Y. Long, J. Xu, X. H. Luo and R. C. Ye, Large scale fabrication of single crystalline Mn_3O_4 nanowires via vapor phase growth, Journal of Crystal growth, 2005, 279, 88

[25] M. N. Banis, Y. Zhang, R. Li, M. Cai and X. Sun, Synthesis and characterization of single crystalline MnO nanowires by vapor deposition method, submitted

[26] Y. Zhang, R. Li, X. Zhou, M. Cai and X. Sun, Selective growth of α -Al₂O₃ nanowires and nanobelts, in press

[27] S. Mathur, H. Shen, V. Sivakov and U. Werner, Germanium nanowires and coreshell nanostructures by chemical vapor deposition of $[Ge(C_5H_5)_2]$, Chemistry of materials, 2004, 16, 2449

[28] R. Hauschild, H. Lange, H. Priller, C. Klinshrin, R. Kling, A. Waag, H. J. Fan, M.Zacharias and H. Kalt, Stimulated emission from ZnO nanorods, Physica status solidi B., 2006, 243, 4, 853

[29] H. J. Fan, W. Lee, R. Hauschild, M. Alexe, G. L. Rhun, R. Scholz, A. Dadgar, K. Nielsch, H. Kalt, A. Krost, M. Zacharias and U. Gosele, Template assisted large scale ordered arrays of ZnO pillars for optical and piezoelectric applications, Small, 2006, 4, 561

[30] Z. Wang, Z. Pan, Junctions and networks of SnO nanoribbons, Advanced materials, 2002, 14, 1029

[31] Y. Ding, P. X. Gao, Z. L. Wang, Catalyst nanostructure interfacial lattice mismatch in determining the shape of VLS grown nanowires and nanobelts: A case of Sn/ZnO, Journal of American chemical society, 2004, 126, 2066

[32] T. Gao, T. H. Wang, Catalyst assisted vapor liquid solid growth of single crystal CdS nanobelts and their luminescence properties, Journal of physical chemistry B, 2004, 108, 20045

[33] T. Gao, T. H. Wang, Catalytic growth of In₂O₃ nanobelts by vapor transport, Journal of Crystal growth, 2006, 290, 660

[34] Z. L. Wang, Functional Oxide nanobelts: materials properties and potential applications in nanosystems and biotechnology, Annual review of physical chemistry, 2004, 55, 159

[35] J. B. Baxter, F. Wu, E. S. Aydil, Growth mechanism and characterization of zinc oxide hexagonal columns, Applied physics letter, 2003, 83, 3797

Chapter Six: Conclusions and Future Work

6.1 General Conclusions

In this study, one dimensional metal oxide nanostructures have been synthesized via simple chemical vapor deposition methods and systematically characterized.

Initially, the growth of silicon oxide nanostructures directly on the substrate was investigated. Silicon oxide nanowire network with diameters of 30-10nm was synthesized by heating the silicon substrate with VO₂ powder at temperatures around 1000°C. According to the detailed microscopic characterization and similar reports of synthesizing silicon oxide nanowires from the substrate, solid-liquid-solid process was proposed as the governing growth mechanism of silicon oxide nanowire. Numerous experiments were carried out to study the effects of various growth parameters. Interestingly, it was found that the mixture of VO₂ and gold as co-catalysts is a critical factor to enhance the network features of the silicon oxide nanowires. Further, the presence of H₂ gas is also important in temperatures below 1000°C for the synthesis of these nanowires while in higher temperatures (~1200°C), a mixture of microfibers and nanowires is synthesized without the use of any metal catalyst or H_2 . We proposed that the latter follows a vapor solid mechanism for the growth of silicon oxide nanowires at higher temperatures. This illustrates the temperature dependence of growth mechanism of the silicon oxide nanostructures

In the following part, MnO nanostructures were synthesized on silicon and carbon paper substrates. High quality crystalline MnO nanowires were successfully synthesized using a simple vapor deposition method on silicon substrate with a thin layer of gold as catalyst. SEM observations showed dense and uniform growth of the nanowires with lengths up to 100µm. HRTEM images and SAED pattern evidenced single crystalline face centered cubic nature of the MnO nanowires. The systematic study of the growth process indicated that the growth of MnO nanowires was very sensitive to process parameters such as temperatures, source/substrate distance and heating rate. The controlled growth of manganese oxide nanowires, silicon oxide nanowires and manganese oxide/silicon oxide composite nanostructures could be obtained by modulating the growth parameters.

To my knowledge, high density of MnO nanowires and nanobelts were selectively synthesized, for the first time, on carbon paper substrate using catalyst assisted or catalyst free growth process respectively. Vapor -liquid-solid process was proposed for the growth mechanism of the manganese oxide nanowires while vapor-solid was thought to be the governing mechanism during nanobelts growth due to the catalyst free condition of their synthesis process. In the VLS growth process, it was found that the structure and density of nanowires was very sensitive to the thickness of gold layer sputtered on carbon paper. For the nanobelt growth governed by VS mechanism, the density of these nanobelts was found to be dependant on the buffer layer sputtered on carbon paper which illustrates their growth dependence on the morphology and composition of the substrate.

6.2 Future Work

6.2.1 Silicon Oxide Nanowires on Silicon

Silicon oxide nanowires are very important semiconductors and have found applications in various fields such as electronics, optics and gas sensors. It is predicted that silicon oxide nanowires networks will enhance their performance but research on these nanostructures is still in early stages and a great deal of work needs to be done.

- Further experiments and detailed analysis of nanostructures are needed to clarify the role of VO₂ in the synthesis of silicon oxide nanowire networks (HRTEM, IR and Raman spectroscopy).
- (2) Various properties of nanowires such as electrical conductivity (using AFM or MEMS based systems, Optical properties (photoluminescence spectroscopy)), and mechanical properties (using AFM) are necessary to be explored.

In addition, studies undertaken in this thesis on the synthesis of silicon oxide nanostructures directly from silicon substrate will help in the synthesis of metal silicides (with high electrical conductivity and oxidation resistance) as promising candidates for electrochemical applications.

6.2.2. MnO Nanostructures on Silicon and Carbon Paper Substrates

The obtained MnO nanostructures are expected to have great applications including magnetic field applications, catalyst and electrochemical applications such as fuel cells. However, some details of synthesis processes of these nanostructures are not very clear and further analysis is required.

- Detailed HRTEM analysis of morphology and composition of the manganese oxide nanowires to determine the location of gold catalyst.
- (2) Characterization of manganese oxide/silicon oxide composite structure and verify the synthesis mechanism of these structures.
- (3) Experiments on the synthesis of manganese oxide nanostructures directly from manganese sputtered substrate for uniform manganese oxide nanostructures.
- (4) Further characterization of MnO nanobelts (HRTEM and XRD).
- (5) Chemical stability and corrosion resistance testing of MnO nanostructures for fuel cell applications.
- (6) Electrochemical characterization of MnO nanostructures such as oxygen reduction of these structures.
- (7) Fuel cell performance measurement of MnO nanostructures as catalyst supports in a membrane electrode assembly (MEA).

In addition to characterization of MnO nanostructures, these structures can be used as precursors for the synthesis other types of materials.

- Heat treatment of MnO nanostructures for the synthesis of other types of manganese oxides such as MnO₂ which is a promising material for Li-ion batteries.
- (2) Doping various elements such as La and Sr in MnO for the synthesis of nanostructures prevoskites such as La_{1-x}Sr_xMnO3 for space applications.